
 

 

 
MEETING: PLANNING COMMITTEE 

  
DATE: 13th April 2022 

  
TIME: 6.30 pm 
  

VENUE: Bootle Town Hall 
  

 
 Member 

 

Councillor 

Substitute 

 

Councillor 
 Cllr. Daren Veidman (Chair) 

Cllr. Brenda O'Brien (Vice-Chair) 
Cllr. Jennifer Corcoran 
Cllr. Denise Dutton 

Cllr. James Hansen 
Cllr. John Kelly 

Cllr. Sonya Kelly 
Cllr. Steve McGinnity 
Cllr. Joe Riley 

Cllr. Michael Roche 
Cllr. Paula Spencer 
Cllr. Anne Thompson 

Cllr. Lynne Thompson 
Cllr. Paul Tweed 

Cllr. Carran Waterfield 
 

Cllr. Natasha Carlin 

Cllr. John Sayers LLB. Cert PA. 
Cllr. Sean Halsall 
Cllr. Terry Jones 

Cllr. Susan Bradshaw 
Cllr. Patrick McKinley 

Cllr. Leslie Byrom C.B.E. 
Cllr. Janet Grace 
Cllr. Sinclair D'Albuquerque 

Cllr. Gordon Friel 
Cllr. Dave Robinson 
Cllr. Paula Murphy 

Cllr. John Dodd 
Cllr. Janis Blackburne 

Cllr. Linda Cluskey 
 

 

 
 COMMITTEE OFFICER: Ruth Appleby / Ian Barton 

 Telephone: 0151 934 2181 /  2788 
 email: ruth.appleby@sefton.gov.uk / 

ian.barton@sefton.gov.uk 

 

See overleaf for COVID Guidance and the 
requirements in relation to Public Attendance. 

 
 

If you have any special needs that may require arrangements to 
facilitate your attendance at this meeting, please contact the 

Committee Officer named above, who will endeavour to assist. 

 

We endeavour to provide a reasonable number of full agendas, including reports at 
the meeting.  If you wish to ensure that you have a copy to refer to at the meeting, 

please can you print off your own copy of the agenda pack prior to the meeting. 

 
 

 

Public Document Pack



COVID GUIDANCE IN RELATION TO PUBLIC ATTENDANCE 

 

In light of ongoing Covid-19 social distancing restrictions, there is limited 

capacity for members of the press and public to be present in the meeting 

room indicated on the front page of the agenda at any one time.  We 

would ask parties remain in the meeting room solely for the duration of 

consideration of the Committee report(s)  to which their interests relate. 

 

We therefore request that if you wish to attend the Committee to please 

register in advance of the meeting via email to ian.barton@sefton.gov.uk  

by no later than 12:00 (noon) on the day of the meeting. 

  

Please include in your email – 

 

 Your name; 

 Your email address; 

 Your Contact telephone number; and 

 The details of the report in which you are interested. 

 

In light of current social distancing requirements, access to the meeting 

room is limited. 

 

We have been advised by Public Health that Members, officers and 

the public should carry out a lateral flow test before attending the 

meeting, and only attend if that test is negative. Provided you are not 

classed as exempt, it is requested that you wear a mask that covers 

both your nose and mouth. 

mailto:ian.barton@sefton.gov.uk


A G E N D A 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  

 Members are requested at a meeting where a disclosable 

pecuniary interest or personal interest arises, which is not 
already included in their Register of Members' Interests, to 
declare any interests that relate to an item on the agenda. 

 
Where a Member discloses a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, 

he/she must withdraw from the meeting during the whole 
consideration of any item of business in which he/she has an 
interest, except where he/she is permitted to remain as a 

result of a grant of a dispensation. 
 

Where a Member discloses a personal interest he/she must 
seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or staff member 
representing the Monitoring Officer by 12 Noon the day 

before the meeting to determine whether the Member should 
withdraw from the meeting room, during the whole 

consideration of any item of business in which he/she has an 
interest or whether the Member can remain in the meeting or 
remain in the meeting and vote on the relevant decision. 

 

 

3.   Minutes of the meeting held on 16 March 2022 

 

 

(Pages 5 - 8) 

4.   Applications for Planning Permission - Approvals  

   
 A DC/2021/00417 - Land Off Holgate, Thornton   (Pages 9 - 38) 
  Report of the Chief Planning Officer 

 
 B DC/2021/02499 - 326 Liverpool Road South, Maghull   (Pages 39 - 64) 

  Report of the Chief Planning Officer 
 

 C DC/2021/01317 - 5-7 Burbo Bank Road South, 

Blundellsands   
(Pages 65 - 72) 

  Report of the Chief Planning Officer 

 
 D DC/2022/00011 - 2 Chipping Avenue, Ainsdale   (Pages 73 - 78) 
  Report of the Chief Planning Officer 

 
 E DC/2021/01677 - 26 Elsworth Close, Formby   (Pages 79 - 86) 

  Report of the Chief Planning Officer 
 

 F DC/2021/02862 - 12 Wright Street, Southport    (Pages 87 - 94) 

  Report of the Chief Planning Officer 
 

 
 
 



5.   Applications for Planning Permission - Refusals  

   
 A DC/2022/00111 - Poplar Lodge 15B Green Lane, 

Formby    
(Pages 95 - 102) 

  Report of the Chief Planning Officer 
 

6.   Planning Appeals Report 

Report of the Chief Planning Officer 
 

(Pages 103 - 118) 

7.   Visiting Panel Schedule 

Report of the Chief Planning Officer 
 

(Pages 119 - 120) 

 



THIS SET OF MINUTES IS NOT SUBJECT TO “CALL-IN” 

 

1 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

MEETING HELD AT THE BOOTLE TOWN HALL 
ON  16 MARCH 2022 

 
 
PRESENT: Councillor Veidman (in the Chair) 

Councillor O'Brien (Vice-Chair) 
 

 Councillors Corcoran, Dutton, Hansen, John Kelly, 
Sonya Kelly, McGinnity, Riley, Roche, Spencer, 
Anne Thompson, Tweed, Waterfield and Dodd 

 
ALSO PRESENT: Councillor Wilson. 

 
 
81. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
An apology for absence was received from Councillor Lynne Thompson. 

 
 
82. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
In accordance with Paragraph 9 of the Council’s Code of Conduct, the 

following declaration of personal interest was made and the Member 
remained in the room during the consideration of the item but took no part 
in the discussion or voting thereon: 

 
Member Minute No. Nature of Interest 

Councillor 

Waterfield 

Minute No. 84 - DC/2021/00123 

- 90 Roe Lane, Southport 

Has spoken to objectors 

to the development 

 
 
83. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 16 FEBRUARY 2022  

 
RESOLVED: 

 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 16 February 2022 be confirmed 
as a correct record. 

 
 
84. DC/2021/00123 - 90 ROE LANE, SOUTHPORT  

 
The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer 

recommending that the above application for the erection of a single storey 
extension to the existing cottage with 2 detached dwellinghouses on land 

to be severed from 90 Roe Lane be granted subject to the conditions and 
for the reasons stated or referred to in the report. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



PLANNING COMMITTEE- WEDNESDAY 16TH MARCH, 2022 
 

2 

Prior to consideration of the application, the Committee received a petition 
on behalf of objectors against the proposed development and a response 

by the applicant. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the recommendation be approved and the application be granted 

subject to the conditions and for the reasons stated or referred to in the 
report and in Late Representations subject to the amendment of the 

additional condition contained in the late representations document to 
require works to be completed to the frontage building before occupation 
of the new dwellings. 

 
 
85. DC/2021/00887 - LAND NORTH OF KENYONS LANE, LYDIATE   

 
The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer 

recommending that the above application for the erection of 291 dwellings 
together with new vehicular accesses off Liverpool Road and Kenyons 

Lane, public open space, children's play area and ancillary infrastructure 
be granted subject to the conditions and for the reasons stated or referred 
to in the report. 

 
Councillor Wilson, as Ward Councillor, made representations on behalf of 

objectors against the proposed development and a response was received 
from the Applicant’s Agent. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That the recommendation be approved and the application be granted 
subject to the conditions and for the reasons stated or referred to in the 
report and in Late Representations, subject to the completion of a Section 

106 legal agreement and subject to the first bullet point of condition 20 
being amended to read: 
 

 Provision of improvements to the existing bus stops on the A59 
north of the Kenyon’s Lane junction, consisting of new shelters, 

access kerbs, surfacing and information boards. 
 

 
86. DC/2021/01452 – 25 WELD ROAD, BIRKDALE  

 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer 
recommending that the above application for the erection of a three-storey 

building comprising 9 apartments and associated landscape works 
including raising the floor slab levels by 550mm (part alternative to 
planning reference DC/2020/00586) be granted subject to the conditions 

and for the reasons stated or referred to in the report. 
 

 
 

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



PLANNING COMMITTEE- WEDNESDAY 16TH MARCH, 2022 
 

3 

RESOLVED: 
 

That the recommendation be approved and the application be granted 
subject to the conditions and for the reasons stated or referred to in the 

report and in Late Representations. 
 
87. DC/2021/02372 - 175 LINACRE ROAD, LITHERLAND  

 
The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer 

recommending that the above application for the conversion of ground 
floor commercial unit into two commercial units involving the installation of 
a new shop front (part-retrospective) be granted subject to the conditions 

and for the reasons stated or referred to in the report. 
 

Arising from the discussion members noted the potential harm for the in 
combination effect of one bedroomed accommodation being created 
though permitted development, and as a precautionary measure thought it 

was appropriate to add a condition that prevented the creation of such 
units through the permitted development regime.  

 
RESOLVED: 
 

That the recommendation be approved and the application be granted 
subject to the conditions and for the reasons stated or referred to in the 

report and in Late Representations and subject to an additional condition 
restricting Permitted Development rights to create any residential dwellings 
at the property, the final wording being delegated to the Chief Planning 

Officer. 
 

 
88. PLANNING APPEALS REPORT  

 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer on the 
progress on appeals lodged with the Planning Inspectorate. 

 
RESOLVED:    
 

That the report be noted. 
 

 
89. VISITING PANEL SCHEDULE  

 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer which 
advised that the undermentioned sites had been inspected by the Visiting 

Panel on 14 March 2022. 
 

Application No.  Site 

 
DC/2021/02372 175 Linacre Road, Litherland Liverpool 

 
DC/2021/01452 25 Weld Road, Birkdale Southport 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



PLANNING COMMITTEE- WEDNESDAY 16TH MARCH, 2022 
 

4 

 
DC/2021/00123 90 Roe Lane, Southport 

 
DC/2021/00887 Land North of Kenyons Lane, Lydiate 

 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
That the report on the sites inspected by the Visiting Panel be noted. 

 
 

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Date of Meeting: 13 April 2022 

Subject: DC/2021/00417 
 Land Off Holgate, Thornton    
      
Proposal: Proposed development of 206 dwellings, including access from Park View, car 

parking, landscaping and public open space, following the demolition of Orchard 
Farm and outbuildings. 

 
Applicant: Mr Mark Wright 
  Forth Homes Construction  
  LTD & Castle Green LTD 
 

   

Ward:  Manor Ward Type: Full application - Major  
 
Reason for Committee Determination:  To resolve matters relating to Habitats 

Regulations Assessment (HRA) 
 
 

 

Summary 
 
The proposal is for the erection of 206 dwellings on land allocated for housing between Holgate, 
Brooms Cross Road and Park View. The application was originally considered by Planning 
Committee in November 2021 and it was resolved that planning permission be granted subject to 
completion of a Section 106 Legal Agreement and the agreement of Natural England to a final 
Habitats Regulations Assessment.  Following the Committee meeting, it emerged that land 
currently within the Council’s ownership, in close proximity to the site, would be capable of 
achieving the required mitigation in order to ensure that land adjacent to the site is capable of 
being made available for use.  
 
The main issues considered are the environmental impacts, matters relating to transportation and 
highway safety, design and amenity and matters relating to housing mix and developer 
contributions. 
 
The application is subject to over 400 objections with the overriding concern relating to increased 
traffic in light of current network issues. The Highways Manager has reviewed in great detail 
various surveys and modelling conducted by the applicant’s consultants and is satisfied that 
although there will be a significant increase in traffic locally with or without the development, 
there would no severe or cumulatively unacceptable impact on the local network associated with 
the development or new signalled junction, subject to the provision of mitigation in the form of 
off-site improvement works between Edge Lane and Brooms Cross Road.  
 
The application has been subject to Habitats Regulations Assessment where it has been concluded 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4a



that it is unlikely there would be significant effects on designated European sites, subject to 
appropriate mitigation. In regard to design and character, the proposal makes efficient use of land 
and incorporates a wide range of well-designed house types. There would be 62 affordable 
dwellings while the proposal also complies with the Council’s housing mix requirements in relation 
to two- and three-bedroom houses. The proposal provides a good standard of living for future 
occupiers while not causing undue harm to the living conditions of existing neighbours.  
 
The development provides an extensive area of Public Open Space encompassing an existing 
bridleway and incorporating new foot and cycle paths along with hundreds of new trees. Although 
the proposal would result in the loss of Orchard Farm which is deemed a Non-Designated Heritage 
Asset, a scheme of investigation can be secured in order to ensure this is appropriately recorded. 
In any event this and other minor conflicts with the Council’s policies and guidelines as identified 
within the following report, such as separation distances between dwellings, are not considered to 
amount to significant harm as to outweigh the benefits of the development. 
 
The proposal would make a significant contribution to housing supply and delivery one of the Local 
Plan’s largest housing allocations. The development would secure net biodiversity gain, new public 
open space and around half a million pounds in financial contributions towards primary education 
and the A565 Route Management Strategy. Overall and on balance the proposal is deemed 
acceptable and is recommended for approval. 
 

Page 10

Agenda Item 4a



Recommendation: Approve with conditions subject to the following: 
 
(1) The Completion of a S106 Legal Agreement Securing the Following:  

 
- 62 affordable dwellings (including two thirds social/ affordable rented and one third discount 

market) 
- 20% of market dwellings to qualify as ‘accessible and adaptable’ under Building Regulations 
- £459,380 in contributions towards primary education in the Thornton/ Crosby area 
- Supplementary feed for bird species on an adjacent field to be agreed by the Chief Planning 

Officer in consultation with Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service and Natural England 
in perpetuity (£2,500 per year for purchase of supplementary feed and labour for spreading, 
with the sum to rise by inflation on an annual basis;  

- £118,939 sinking fund, equivalent to a further £2,500 (interest index linked), available to the 
landowner to secure the ongoing mitigation of the site – thus allowing the provision of 
additional finance in the event that the site should need additional security or to deal with 
any other unexpected future events and a £60,000 monitoring fee, 

- £61,594 (recreational pressure fee, as determined via the Sefton Information Note core zone 
as 299(£) x 206 (dwellings)) 

- The management of public open space and sustainable drainage systems 
- Contributions towards the A565 Route Management Strategy  
- £6,658 to monitor compliance with the Agreement 

 
(2) Agreement of Natural England to the findings of completed Habitats Regulations 

Assessment securing the required mitigation. 

    
Case Officer Steven Faulkner 

 
  

Email  planning.department@sefton.gov.uk 
  

Telephone 0345 140 0845  
 

Application documents and plans are available at: 

http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=QOFB72NWHN500 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4a



Site Location Plan 

 

Page 12

Agenda Item 4a



The Site 
 
The application site comprises 7.2 ha of former agricultural land including the existing Orchard 
Farm complex. It is bounded by Brooms Cross Road to the north, Park View/ Southport Road to the 
west, Holgate to the east and residential properties to the south. 
 

History 
  
The Council provided an Environmental Impact Assessment Screening Opinion in December 2020 
concluding that the development of up to 221 dwellings on site would be unlikely to have 
‘significant effects on the environment’ thus not warranting the preparation of an Environmental 
Statement (DC/2020/02451). 
 
Planning permission was granted on appeal in August 2019 for the erection of 14 dwellings 
towards the northern perimeter of the site adjacent to Orchard Farm (reference DC/2018/01568). 
 

Consultations 
 
Clinical Commissioning Group 
No objection. 
 
Conservation Officer 
Object to the loss of Orchard House. 
 
Environment Agency 
No comment received. 
 
Environmental Health Manager 
 
Air Quality 
No objection subject to conditions. 
 
Contaminated Land  
No objection subject to conditions. 
 
Noise 
No objection subject to conditions. 
 
Flooding and Drainage Manager 
No objection subject to conditions. 
 
Highways Manager  
No objection subject to conditions. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4a



 
Historic England 
No objection. 
 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
No objection subject to conditions (comments based solely on transportation implications). 
  
Local Plan Manager 
No objection. 
 
Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service 
No objection subject to conditions. 
 
Natural England  
No objection subject to conditions. 
 
Tree Officer 
No objection. 
  
United Utilities 
No objection subject to conditions. 
  
Neighbour Representations 
 
A 31-signature petition endorsed by Councillor John Joseph Kelly has been submitted objecting to 
the proposal due to an exacerbation of existing traffic issues, highway safety, air pollution and 
harm to the environment and ecology.   
 
An ePetition containing 245 signatures has been submitted via the Council’s website, objecting to 
the proposal due to increased traffic on to an already congested road, associated highway safety 
issues and increase in air pollution. Other objections include harm to the character of the area and 
setting of historic villages and Broom’s Cross. Loss of green space, recreation opportunities, trees 
and impact on ecology of the area including protected species such as pink footed geese. Increased 
flood risk.  
 
Objections received from multiple residents within 441 individual addresses and Thornton Parish 
Council on the following grounds: - 
 
Environmental Matters 

- Loss of Green Belt and open space reducing opportunities for recreation and damaging the 
natural environment 

- Impact on trees, ecology/ protected species including skylarks and geese 
- Environmental impacts during Climate Emergency and lack of public transport 

Page 14

Agenda Item 4a



- Increased risk of flooding with fields often covered with surface water 
- The site constitutes Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land 
- Habitats Regulations Assessment is inadequate and does not meet the legal tests as 

compensation is proposed without carrying out the Integrity Test and derogations stage 
- Environmental Impact Assessment should be required 
- Increased air pollution 

 
Transportation and Highway Safety 

- Increase in traffic would exacerbate existing issues with regular congestion and network at 
capacity 

- A new signalled junction would cause tailbacks of traffic  
- Emergency services will not be able to make their way through traffic 
- Other developments in the area contributing to traffic already 
- Transport Assessment uses old data and survey information from lockdown 
- Concerns over existing road layout, with streets used as rat runs and associated highway 

safety issues 
- Removal of a car crash barrier on Park View 
- Site is not accessible to public transportation 

 
Design and Amenity 

- Detrimental impacts on the character of the area and overdevelopment of the site 
- Harm to heritage assets including Orchard House, scenery and rural landscape 
- Overlooking and overshadowing of existing neighbours 
- Increased noise and disturbance to existing residents and general detrimental impacts on 

health and wellbeing 
- Two storey properties next to bungalows on Holgate Park is inappropriate  
- Impacts on boundary treatments and existing hedges 
- A bridleway through a residential estate is unsuitable 
- Construction disturbance 

 
Development Pressures and Other Matters 

- No demand for houses with many empty properties not selling and Brownfield sites 
elsewhere 

- Increased population will impact on services and local infrastructure, insufficient spaces in 
schools with closest schools oversubscribed and lack of availability in GP practices 

- Lack of amenities within the area which is a small parish unsuitable for further 
development 

- Strong opposition demonstrates the significant harm which would be caused to local 
amenity, proposal is simply for profit 

 

 
 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4a



Policy Context 
 
The application site lies within an area designated as residential (housing allocation reference 
MN2.25) in the Sefton Local Plan which was adopted by the Council in April 2017.  There are a 
number of site-specific development requirements for the site set out under Appendix 1 of the 
Local Plan.  These are as follows: - 
 
- Ensure that sufficient information is provided with the planning application to enable the Council 
to make a Habitats Regulations Assessment;  
- Provide a proportional financial contribution towards the implementation of the A565 Route 
Management Strategy (Thornton to Crosby section);  
- Take all vehicular access to the site from a new signal-controlled junction onto Park View, also 
serving site MN2.24; and  
- Incorporate a pedestrian and cycle route through the site to connect with sites MN2.24, MN2.26, 
and MN2.27, and the path north of Thornton Cemetery. 
 

Assessment of the Proposal 
 
Principle of Development 
 
The application site is allocated for housing within the Sefton Local Plan which establishes the 
principle of development. 
 
Policy HC3 states that new residential development must achieve a minimum density of 30 
dwellings per hectare of the net developable area, except where: (a) constraints within the site, or 
the provision of infrastructure within the site, make this impractical, or (b) a lower density can be 
justified having regard to the layout and character of the immediate surrounding area. The density 
achieved is 28.6 dwellings per hectare which is deemed acceptable given requirements for public 
open space and character of the area.  
 
Environmental Matters 
 
Ecology, Protected Species and Sites 
 
The application is accompanied by various ecological reports including an Extended Phase 1 
Habitat Survey, Bat Survey, Wintering Bird Survey and Ecological Statement to inform Habitats 
Regulations Assessment and Pink-Footed Goose Mitigation Strategy.  The application site 
comprises 7.2ha of agricultural land which has recently been utilised to grow potatoes and which 
hosts habitat to a number of Protected Species.  
 
Firstly, given potential suitability for hedgehog the Council’s environmental consultants 
Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service has requested that reasonable avoidance measures be 
implemented during the construction phase, it will also be necessary to check for all types of bird 

Page 16

Agenda Item 4a



during the breeding season should buildings be demolished, or vegetation cleared. This can be 
secured within a Construction Environmental Management Plan which also minimises noise and 
disturbance to species nearby off-site.  
 
It is considered that there are ‘pathways’ between the application site and designated European 
sites for qualifying species (in this case Pink-footed Geese) which required Habitats Regulations 
Assessment (HRA) for likely significant effects. The applicant’s wintering bird survey was not 
considered to be significantly robust in order to conclude whether the site provided functionally 
linked habitat for a significant number of geese. Given the season in which further survey work can 
be conducted has ended, it has been agreed by all parties including MEAS that the site ought to be 
classed as functionally linked habitat thus warranting the provision of mitigatory food sources. 
 
Mitigation measures cover avoidance and reduction measures which may result in no adverse 
effect on site integrity. These are different to compensatory measures.  Mitigation measures aim 
to reduce or avoid any potential adverse effects of new developments on European sites, whereas 
compensatory measures are considered where there is still a net residual adverse effect after the 
Appropriate Assessment and Integrity Decision steps (i.e. despite the consideration of additional 
mitigation measures), and the competent authority (in this situation Sefton Council) is minded to 
consent the development given there may be no alternative solutions.  
 

 
 
To provide mitigation, the applicant has put forward proposals for the spreading of supplementary 
feed on 10 hectares of arable land to the north and east of the application site (outlined above) to 
ensure suitable feeding provision for pink footed geese.  The mitigation would be secured in 
perpetuity.  This site is recognised to form part of a wider network of functionally linked habitat for 
pink footed geese outside national site network boundaries.  The land would be farmed based on 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4a



its current five-year crop cycle, and supplementary feed will also be left on site when a wintering 
crop is grown, in line with the crop energy values lost at the development site.    
 
These measures are considered to be acceptable and are secured via Section 106 Legal Agreement, 
which will incorporate a sinking fund of £118,939, to enable the landowner to provide continued 
mitigation, and a contribution of £60,000 for monitoring of the wildlife mitigation strategy.  
Additionally, to ensure the robustness of assessment, it is important that the mitigation site is 
available before development of the application site takes place.  As such a ‘Grampian’ condition is 
added to the recommendation.  These conditions are negatively worded and are used in certain 
circumstances in order to prevent development commencing until other off-site works are 
completed, and must pass tests of necessity and merit.  In this case the condition is justified as 
mitigation will not be achieved if development takes place without the strategy being 
implemented. 
Another element of the Habitats Regulations is effectively indirect impacts on European Sites, 
namely the Sefton Coast and increased recreational pressure associated with population increase 
in the locality. Due to the provision of on-site recreational opportunities and nearby suitable 
alternative green spaces, MEAS have concluded within their assessment of ‘likely effects’ that 
there will be no significant effects on the coast. This is subject to mitigation in the form of house 
sales packs describing the importance of European sites. Natural England has reviewed the 
application and Habitats Regulations Assessment carried out by MEAS and has raised no objection, 
therefore Sefton has exercised its duty as a competent authority. The Assessment of Likely 
Significant Effects and Appropriate Assessment in both instances can be viewed on the Council’s 
website via the link on the cover page of this item. 
 
In terms of landscaping and biodiversity gain, the proposed development includes extensive tree 
planting. Woodland fringe would be retained along parts of the site boundary supplemented by 
native species, which have been amended to small-seed bearing species in order to favour Red 
Squirrel. In order to secure net biodiversity gains a condition can be attached requiring the 
installation of bird and bat boxes.  
 
The submitted Habitat Survey identifies invasive species including Japanese knotweed and 
cotoneaster adjacent to the bridleway at Holgate. Given the potential for this to be spread across a 
wider area during the construction phase it is reasonable for a method statement to be provided 
to Planning Services in order to prevent ecological harm. 
 
Overall and subject to the abovementioned mitigation measures it is considered that the proposal 
complies with the requirements of the Habitats Regulations and policy NH2 in relation to 
protected habitat and species and given that net biodiversity gain is achievable through the 
extensive landscaping scheme and bird and bat boxes.  
 
Sustainability and Low Carbon Design 
 
Development should ‘respond to the challenge of climate change’ as set out in Sefton Local Plan 
policy SD2 (Principles of sustainable development). Local Plan policy EQ7 (Energy Efficient and Low 

Page 18

Agenda Item 4a



Carbon Design) states that major development should incorporate measures to reduce greenhouse 
gas emissions where practicable through one or more specified measures.  
 
One of the suggested measures is to make the most of natural solar gain through the site and 
building layout. The submitted drawings indicate that the vast majority of dwellings would be 
angled so as to have either their front or rear elevations benefit from direct sunlight during most 
of the day (i.e. angled towards the south). 
 
In regard to climate change and increased flood risk, the indicative drainage proposals are 
designed to store the volume of water associated with a 1 in 100-year rainfall event, plus an 
additional allowance to account for increased rainfall due to climate change which can be 
accommodated within ‘swales’ (i.e. wide shallow drainage areas) within the public open space. 
 
Various aspects of the proposed development encourage sustainable modes of transportation. 
Firstly, every property within the development would be required to provide an electric vehicle 
charging point. The proposal also includes a footway/ cycle network within a linear park which 
connects the development to an existing bridleway and the main site entrance at Park View. This 
improves accessibility, encourages residents to use local areas for recreation and provides benefit 
by way of increased tree planting. 
 
Finally, given the scale of the development it is deemed pertinent to secure a Waste Management 
Plan within a Construction Environmental Management Plan in order to minimise construction 
waste and encourage recycling of material. 
 
Air Quality 
 
A detailed Air Quality Assessment (AQA) has been submitted in support of the application which 
has been reviewed to the satisfaction of the Environmental Health Manager. The assessment has, 
through dispersion modelling, determined the future air quality impact emissions from traffic 
going to and from the proposed development, will have on existing residents. The impact of 
existing air pollution sources on future occupiers of the development has also been determined. 
The AQA concludes that the development will have a negligible impact on air quality.   
 
It has however been recommended that a scheme of dust control during the construction phase 
be secured by condition. This can be contained within a Construction Environmental Management 
Plan.  
 
Ground Conditions 
 
Agriculture 
 
The site has most recently been used to farm potatoes and concerns have been raised over the 
loss of ‘Best and Most Versatile Land’. The Council’s Agricultural Land Study (2012) found that the 
reduction to food production and economic output by virtue of developing (allocated sites) little 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4a



over 2% of Sefton’s agricultural land would be small in a regional context. The principle of 
developing the site is established as it is a housing allocation in the Sefton Local Plan. 
 
Contamination 
 
The application is accompanied by a Phase 1 Geoenvironmental Site Assessment which indicates 
the potential for Made Ground and ground gases associated with the Orchard Farm complex. It is 
not expected that there would be any widespread contamination across the main agricultural field, 
nevertheless the Environmental Health Manager has recommended a scheme of investigation to 
advise any necessary remediation. This can be secured by condition. 
 
Archaeology 
 
The application is accompanied by a Historic Environment Desk-Based Assessment which has been 
reviewed to the satisfaction of the Council’s archaeological advisor. Orchard House is understood 
to date from the late 18th century, with the possibility of earlier settlement occupying the 
farmhouse site. Orchard House is considered to be a non-designated heritage asset. In order to 
mitigate the loss of the building a programme of archaeological and building investigation is 
recommended which can be secured by condition. 
 
Aside from this given the wider agricultural field has not been developed throughout the Post-
Medieval and Modern periods there is yet unidentified archaeological potential. It is 
recommended that a geophysical survey and trial trenching be secured by condition in order to 
ensure appropriate recording of further potential non-designated heritage and archaeology. 
 
Minerals 
 
The site lies within a Mineral Safeguarding Area. An assessment has been submitted that shows 
that it is not economically or environmentally practicable to extract the silica sand from under the 
site. It considered that the proposal complies with parts 1 (b) and (e) of policy NH8 as the applicant 
has demonstrated that the mineral concerned is not of potential value, while there is an overriding 
need to develop the site in order to deliver a major housing allocation. 
 
Levels 
 
A topographical survey has been submitted of the application site which shows a steady drop in 
levels from the south to the north. The highest ground levels are adjacent to properties on Holgate 
and Holgate Park which exceed 19m above sea level, whereas the northern corner measures just 
under 17m above sea level before a more obvious drop to Brooms Cross Road. The difference in 
level across the site of around 2m is largely indistinguishable when viewed from any public vantage 
point given its size and the gradual slope.  
 
An ‘engineering’ drawing has been submitted which indicated the finished floor levels of dwellings. 
Adjacent to Holgate and Holgate Park finished floor levels are around 200-300mm higher than 

Page 20

Agenda Item 4a



existing ground levels indicating no impact on existing properties. Towards the centre of the site 
there is greater variation of up to 800mm above existing levels however in the overall scheme of 
the development it is not considered that there are any instances where levels would jar with 
those adjacent to their closest neighbours. A validation report can be secured by condition to 
ensure the development is carried out in accordance with these levels.  
 
Transportation, Access and Highway Safety  
 
Appendix 1 of the Sefton Local Plan contains a number of site-specific requirements relating to 
transportation and the development of this site including that vehicular access be taken from a 
new signal-controlled junction onto Park View, that a pedestrian and cycle route connects the site 
to adjacent housing allocations and that a financial contribution be made towards the 
implementation of the A565 Route Management Strategy. 
 
The application is accompanied by a Transport Assessment and various Technical Notes which 
consider the impacts of the proposed scheme along with other developments in the vicinity. In 
terms of access into the site the design of the new signalled junction is considered acceptable. Part 
of this including creating an arm to the adjacent housing allocation would be outside of the 
applicant’s ownership and so would be funded by money secured within a section 106 legal 
agreement. The junction provides access for pedestrians and cyclists as well as vehicles. There is 
also a separate footway/cycle path which runs through the public open space connecting the site 
to the existing bridleway at Holgate. The layout within the site is acceptable with regard to road 
widths, turning areas, visibility and off-street parking provision. Cycle parking and electric vehicle 
charging points can be secured by condition in order to encourage sustainable means of transport. 
 
A Minimum Accessibility Standard Assessment (MASA) has been submitted with the application - 
this was amended at the request of the Highways Manager given initial inaccuracies. The MASA 
clarifies that the site achieves the minimum expected scores for all categories in terms of 
accessibility by non-car means of transport. The new signalled junction would provide pedestrian 
and cycle links into Thornton and Crosby, while there are regular bus services also. The Highways 
Manager has recommended that a Travel Plan be secured by condition which makes prospective 
purchasers aware of certain accessibility constraints and in order to encourage sustainable 
transport during the lifetime of the development. 
 
With regard to the impact of the proposal on the local network, the applicant’s highways 
consultants have carried out various models which accord with industry standards, including 
modelling of the new junction and existing junctions/ roundabout at Southport Road and Brooms 
Cross Road, Park View and Green Lane, and Moor Lane and Edge Lane. It has been estimated that 
the development would generate 123 two-way vehicle trips in the AM peak and 127 two-way 
vehicle trips in the PM peak hour. This equates to approximately 2 additional vehicle trips per 
minute in the peak hours.  
 
The applicant’s reports as originally submitted indicated that even without the proposed 
development there will be capacity issues with the majority of the junctions in 2026, and in some 

Page 21

Agenda Item 4a



cases the junctions will exceed their design capacity during the peak hours. In order to fully 
understand the potential impact of the development on the local highway network, as well 
reviewing the modelling internally, the Highways Manager procured the services of an 
independent consultant to review the junction modelling undertaken by the applicant.  
 
Following minor corrections which were requested to the modelling and another method of 
modelling being prepared, all parties are of the view that there will be a clear increase in traffic in 
the future which will result in increased delays and congestion at existing junctions. The proposed 
new signalled-junction and traffic associated with the proposed development would further 
increase the volume of traffic and delays. Whilst there are significant highway concerns over the 
proposed development and the impact it will have on the local and wider network, it is accepted 
that future traffic growth will have a greater impact. It is also accepted that the signal control 
junction required under the Local Plan will have a significant impact on the network; however this 
is not considered to be severe in magnitude. Further to this, mitigation is proposed which will 
assist in alleviating traffic including alterations to signal phases and road markings along Edge Lane 
and improvements to signage. These measures would be funded by the applicant and be secured 
within a section 106 legal agreement. The Highways Manager notes that an accident analysis of 
the local area indicates there are no specific issues which would be exacerbated by the proposed 
development.  
 
There are some concerns relating to a projected increase in traffic locally, and the additional 
impact of the proposed development and new signalled junction.  However, overall it is not 
considered that these would result in ‘an unacceptable impact on highway safety’ nor that ‘the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe’ which are the relevant policy 
tests as set out under paragraph 111 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
Local Plan policy EQ3 requires that new development be located and designed to encourage 
walking and cycling within, to and from the site. It is considered that the development achieves 
this. It has been concluded that the site meets targets in terms of accessibility to public 
transportation and local amenities. Furthermore, there are no highway safety concerns associated 
with the development which ensures safety for pedestrians and road users within and to and from 
the site 
 
Flooding and Drainage 
 
The application site is located within Flood Zone 1 indicating a low risk of fluvial, tidal or reservoir 
flooding. It is also classed as being at low risk of surface water flooding by the Environment 
Agency. The applicant has submitted a detailed Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Pro-Forma 
which has been reviewed to the satisfaction of the Flooding and Drainage Manager.  
 
Outline proposals see surface water attenuated on site before connecting to existing surface water 
drains. More sustainable methods of drainage such as infiltration and connecting to a watercourse 
have been ruled out as being impractical (i.e. ground conditions comprising clay and soil not 
suitable for soakaways and the distance from a watercourse). Full details of a final surface water 

Page 22

Agenda Item 4a



drainage scheme can be secured by condition in order to comply with the requirements of policy 
EQ8 (Flood Risk and Surface Water) of the Sefton Local Plan. 
 
Design and Character 
 
Built Form 
 
Local Plan policy EQ2 requires that new development responds positively to the character, local 
distinctiveness and form of its surroundings. While the site is currently an open field it has strong 
boundary features including Brooms Cross Road and Southport Road/ Park View. This was a key 
factor in de-designated the site from the Green Belt with the Inspector concluding that there is ‘an 
obvious logic to redrawing the Green Belt boundary along the A5758’. Nevertheless, given there is 
currently no development to the west and the open Green Belt to the north, the proposed layout 
provides a landscaped buffer along the entire perimeter of the site which is discussed further 
below. 
 
In terms of built form, the adjacent urban area largely comprises either semi-detached two storey 
properties or detached single storey/ dormer bungalows. The majority of surrounding 
development post-dates World War II and is characterised by the use of red brick with rosemary 
tiles and grey roof slate used interchangeably. There is a strong grid layout to the south of Edge 
Lane along Moor Lane, however closer to the application site development is more organic in 
character. 
 
The proposed development would be accessed from a single point on Park View. The access road 
follows a clear route towards the furthest dwellings in the north east corner, but there is no clear 
hierarchy of roads given all are tree-lined and of the same width. This is acceptable given the 
nature of the development (i.e. wholly residential). The density and grain are consistent with what 
would be expected of a suburban development.  
 
The dwellings proposed would comprise a mix of detached, semi-detached and terrace, all of 
which are two storey in height. The dwellings are of a traditional style which complements the 
prevailing style of dwellings on Southport Road to the west. The level of detail on each house type 
varies which contributes to a sense of interest within the street scene, and many feature 
decorative porches, bay windows and gables. Facing materials include a mix of brickwork (red) and 
render with interchanging red and grey roof tiles. 
 
Overall it is considered that the proposal responds positively to the character and form of its 
surroundings in terms of its layout, density and the style, height and form of dwellings. The 
proposal therefore complies with policy EQ2 (Design) of the Sefton Local Plan. 
 
Trees and Landscaping 
 
The site contains 20 individual trees, 30 groups and eight hedges with the majority along the 
perimeter of the site although some more established trees surround the Orchard Farm complex. 

Page 23

Agenda Item 4a



It is proposed to remove around half of the trees on site in order to facilitate the development. 
The Council’s Tree Officer has raised no objection as the majority are considered to be of poor 
quality. The loss of these trees will be compensated for by the proposed extensive tree planting 
throughout the development (some 100 tall/ heavy standard trees plus an additional 800 
Hawthorns which are technically classed as trees). Some trees adjacent to the bridleway on 
Holgate are to be retained within the future area of open space as is a linear band of trees to the 
northern site perimeter onto Brooms Cross Road along with hedgerow to the boundaries of 
properties on Holgate and Holgate Park. The submitted Method Statement outlines measures to 
protect all retained vegetation - this is acceptable and can be secured by condition.  
 
In terms of new landscaping, given the size of the development Local Plan policy EQ9 (Provision of 
Public Open Space, Strategic Paths and Trees) requires that on-site public open space be provided 
on the basis of 40sqm per dwelling (0.82ha in total). The proposal incorporates a main park of 
around 6,400sqm which encompasses the retained bridleway and a Local Equipped Area for Play 
(LEAP).  
 
The applicant first sought to incorporate a linear landscaped buffer to the perimeter onto Brooms 
Cross Road which was deemed unusable given its width and lack of infrastructure for recreation. 
Following further discussions, it has been agreed in principle that land just outside of the boundary 
and owned by the Council be incorporated within the open space and be managed and maintained 
by the developer thereafter. A cycle/footway is included within the additional area of open space 
along with enhanced landscaping to improve the frontage onto Brooms Cross Road and Park View. 
This area measures around 3,400sqm which in total provides public open space on site of almost a 
hectare which exceeds what the policy requires. The management of open space would be secured 
within a section 106 legal agreement.  
 
Overall it is considered that the proposal is of high-quality design with respect to landscaping, tree 
protection and replacement and that the proposal complies with policy EQ9.  
 
Heritage Impacts 
 
The application is accompanied by a Historic Environment Desk-Based Assessment which identifies 
the 18th century Orchard House as a Non-Designated Heritage Asset. The Conservation Officer has 
objected to its loss as contrary to Local Plan policy NH15. The outright loss of the building does 
conflict with this policy, however the overall benefits of the proposal must be considered in the 
planning balance. The Council’s archaeological advisor has also raised no objection subject to 
appropriate recording of the building, as explained under the ‘Archaeology’ section of this report.  
 
The application site is located nearby to a Scheduled Monument, Brooms Cross. The Conservation 
Officer has stated that by virtue of further encroachment towards the monument within its 
historical rural setting a degree of harm would be caused. Nevertheless, this would be deemed 
minimal, given the presence of Brooms Cross Road which has already urbanised its setting. The 
impact on Brooms Cross is less than substantial, and in accordance with paragraph 202 of the 

Page 24

Agenda Item 4a



National Planning Policy Framework the benefit of bringing forward a major housing allocation is 
considered to provide a public benefit which clearly outweighs this harm. 
 
Paragraph 203 states ‘In weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated 
heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or 
loss and the significance of the heritage asset’. Thus on balance while Orchard Farm would be lost 
entirely, its significance is limited and is deemed to be outweighed by the abovementioned 
benefits of the development.   
 
Residential Amenity 
 
Living Conditions of Future Occupiers 
 
The application is subject to Local Plan policy HC3 and the accompanying guidance within the ‘New 
Housing’ Supplementary Planning Document, which provides standards and recommendations for 
suitable living conditions for future occupiers. The Council’s guidance recommends a distance of 
21m between windows serving habitable rooms and 12m between non-habitable rooms or 
habitable rooms and blank walls. 
 
The proposed development is well laid out so as to achieve an acceptable distance between 
dwellings on the whole. The majority of rear to rear separation distances exceed 21m with all 
exceeding 19m which is acceptable. Within a limited number of pinch points throughout the 
development, the separation between the front of houses measures just over 17m. Given this is 
across a public highway this would not affect privacy unduly. In terms of garden depths, which the 
Council’s guidance recommends as 10.5m, the majority meet and exceed this requirement with all 
exceeding 9m in depth. On balance this is deemed acceptable.  
 
In terms of garden sizes, the Council’s guidance recommends 50sqm be provided for two-bedroom 
properties and 60sqm for those of three bedrooms or more. Following amendments, it is 
considered that an acceptable standard of living is provided to all of the proposed dwellings with 
all exceeding the respective standard. Overall it is considered that the proposal provides a good 
standard of living for future occupiers in terms of levels of light, outlook, privacy and outdoor 
amenity space.  
 
A detailed Noise Impact Assessment has been submitted to accompany the application. The 
Environmental Health Manager has reviewed the report and agreed that acoustic glazing will be 
required to certain dwellings to mitigate traffic noise associated with Brooms Cross Road and Park 
View. This ought to be accompanied by ventilation such as mechanically assisted or trickle vents so 
that windows can routinely remain closed. Aside from this, plots fronting these roads will be 
required to provide acoustic fencing, the closest of which are the gardens of plots 127-131 which 
back on to Brooms Cross Road. Acoustic fencing of 2.5m in height is considered acceptable from a 
visual perspective and in order to mitigate noise to a reasonable degree. Full details of the 
mitigation measures can be secured by condition. 
 

Page 25

Agenda Item 4a



Impact on Existing Residents 
 
The application site adjoins 11 existing properties on Holgate, Holgate Park and Rothwells Lane. 
The proposed dwellings adjacent to these properties would benefit from gardens of 10.5m deep or 
more so as not to cause unacceptable overlooking. The recommended 21m window to window 
separation distance is also achieved.  
 
There are two situations where the layout does not achieve the Council’s standard separation 
distances between existing properties, however these are deemed acceptable as significant harm 
does not result. Firstly, the blank side elevation of plot 198 would be positioned 11.5m from the 
rear conservatory of 16 Holgate Park. The half a meter shortfall is limited and given the orientation 
of both properties there would be only limited overshadowing. 
 
There is a side extension to 23 Holgate which is understood to contain a full-length kitchen with 
windows to all sides. The proposed dwelling on plot 183 features an attached garage which runs 
close to the boundary at a distance of 5m. Given existing hedgerow restricts outlook and light and 
there is an unaffected front-facing window it is not considered that significant harm would result. 
In order to control rear extensions to this plot impacting on rear windows of number 23 it is 
deemed necessary to restrict permitted development rights. 
 
Concerns have been raised over impacts on boundary treatments. The applicant has agreed to 
retain the existing hedgerow and protect it during the construction phase and also supplement 
with fencing behind the hedgerow which is deemed acceptable.  
 
Housing Provision 
 
The proposal is to provide 206 dwellings of varying tenures and sizes. The applicant proposes 62 
affordable dwellings which meets the 30% requirement of Local Plan policy HC1. 42 of the 
dwellings would be social or affordable rented and 20 affordable home ownership which accords 
with the recommendations of the Council’s most recent Strategic Housing Market Assessment. The 
affordable dwellings would be ‘tenure blind’ as they are of the similar design and appearance to 
various open market dwellings within the proposed development. They are also adequately 
‘pepper-potted’ (i.e. dispersed) throughout the site. Affordable housing is to be secured by a 
section 106 legal agreement.   
 
The remaining 144 dwellings would be available on the open market. Local Plan policy HC2 
requires 25% to comprise either one or two bedroom to meet local need and a minimum of 40% to 
comprise three bedrooms. The development includes 36 two-bedroom market dwellings which 
represents 25%, whereas 57 would be three bedroom representing 40%. The same policy requires 
developments of this size to provide 20% of market dwellings to be designed to meet Building 
Regulation Requirement M4(2) ‘accessible and adaptable dwellings’. This is to be secured within a 
section 106 legal agreement.  
 

Page 26

Agenda Item 4a



The Council is currently in a position where it can demonstrate in excess of 5 years’ worth of 
housing supply. The delivery of the application site as a major housing allocation is essential in 
order to ensure continuity in housing provision within South Sefton.  
 
Infrastructure and Developer Contributions 
 
Local Plan policy IN1 states that developer contributions may be sought to provide or enhance 
infrastructure to support new development, this means physical buildings as opposed to additional 
employment. Concerns have been raised over the likely impact of the proposal on local school and 
doctor provision in particular. 
 
In terms of schools, the Council is currently seeking financial contributions to facilitate alterations 
and extensions of existing primary schools in order to accommodate an anticipated increase in 
pupil numbers. This is calculated at £2,230 per dwelling in Crosby/Thornton and therefore 
amounts to £459,380 for the proposed development. This can be secured within a section 106 
legal agreement.   
 
The Director of Place for South Sefton and Southport & Formby Clinical Commissioning Groups 
have commented on the application confirming that the existing GP facilities within the Thornton 
area are sufficient to accommodate any growth if needed in the future, although reviews will take 
place as and when necessary.  
 
Regarding impacts on services and infrastructure, United Utilities has not indicated any concerns in 
relation to the proposed surface and foul water drainage systems. There is also no evidence to 
suggest that electricity supplies, for example, are under pressure locally.  
 
Planning Balance and Conclusion 
 
The proposed development is acceptable in principle given the site’s allocation for housing in the 
Local Plan. The density, design and general layout are acceptable with regard to the prevailing 
character of the local area. The loss of a non-designated heritage asset causes a degree of harm in 
planning terms.  
 
In terms of amenity, future occupiers would be afforded a good standard of living internally and 
externally. The proposal would provide over 60 affordable dwellings, while the remaining market 
dwellings accord with the Council’s policy on housing mix. 20% of these would meet Part M of the 
Building Regulations – Accessible and Adaptable Dwellings. The applicant would also be required 
to provide almost half a million pounds to go towards primary education in the local area.  
 
The site is considered to be accessible to non-car-based modes of transport and would include an 
extensive area of Public Open Space on site along with tree planting to a level which far outweighs 
the limited loss of existing vegetation. The application has been accompanied by a significant 
number of transportation reports, it has been concluded that there will be a significant increase in 
traffic over the next 5-year period and that the proposed development will undoubtedly create its 

Page 27

Agenda Item 4a



own further impact. Nevertheless, the Highways Manager is satisfied that the impacts would not 
be severe as to warrant refusal and has recommended that a scheme of off-site improvement 
works be secured for the existing road network.  
 
In the absence of full wintering bird surveys during the appropriate season, it has been concluded 
on a precautionary basis that the site is functional habitat for pink footed geese. In order to 
provide mitigatory habitat/ food sources in accordance with the Habitats Regulations the applicant 
has sought the agreement of a nearby landowner to spread seed on their field for a minimum 30-
year period. There are no other significant environmental impacts which have been identified and 
overall it is considered that the development would provide net biodiversity gain.  Nonetheless 
conditions are necessary such as a Construction Environmental Management Plan in order to 
mitigate impacts during the construction of the development.  
 
Overall there are clear benefits to the proposal in contributing significantly to the Council’s 
housing supply on a major large-scale allocation, along with a wide range of developer 
contributions which the applicant has committed to in full. The main areas of harm identified 
include increased traffic and risk of congestion, along with the loss of a non-designated heritage 
asset.  However, neither of these are deemed so harmful as to outweigh the benefits of developing 
the site. Overall and on balance it is considered that the proposal complies with adopted local and 
national policy and guidance, and it is therefore recommended for approval.  

Page 28

Agenda Item 4a



 

Recommendation: Approve with conditions subject to the following: 
 

(1) The Completion of a S106 Legal Agreement Securing the Following:  

 
- 62 affordable dwellings (including two thirds social/ affordable rented and one third discount 

market) 
- 20% of market dwellings to qualify as ‘accessible and adaptable’ under Building Regulations 
- £459,380 in contributions towards primary education in the Thornton/ Crosby area 
- Supplementary feed for bird species on an adjacent field to be agreed by the Chief Planning 

Officer in consultation with Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service and Natural England 
in perpetuity (£2,500 per year for purchase of supplementary feed and labour for spreading, 
with the sum to rise by inflation on an annual basis;  

- £118,939 sinking fund, equivalent to a further £2,500 (interest index linked), available to the 
landowner to secure the ongoing mitigation of the site – thus allowing the provision of 
additional finance in the event that the site should need additional security or to deal with 
any other unexpected future events and a £60,000 monitoring fee, 

- £61,594 (recreational pressure fee, as determined via the Sefton Information Note core zone 
as 299(£) x 206 (dwellings)) 

- The management of public open space and sustainable drainage systems 
- Contributions towards the A565 Route Management Strategy  
- £6,658 to monitor compliance with the Agreement 

 
(2) Agreement of Natural England to the findings of completed Habitats Regulations 

Assessment securing the required mitigation. 

 
Conditions 
 
Time Limit for Commencement 
 
1)  The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of five years 

from the date of this permission. 
 

Reason:  In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in 
Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

 
Approved Plans 
 
2)  The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans and 

documents:  
 

- Location Plan (SEFT-LP.01) 

Page 29

Agenda Item 4a



- Site Layout (SEFT-SP.01 M) 
- Landscape Masterplan (D181.0o1 B) 
- Landscape General Arrangement (D181.002 A, 003 A and 004 A) 
- Planting Plan (D181.005 A, 006 B and 007 B) 
- Planting Schedule (D181.008 B) 
- Boundary Treatments (D181.009 B) 
- Boundary Treatments Location Plan (D181.010) 
- Engineering Planning Layout (41-01-01 P1 and 02 P1) 
- Ashton Semi Plans and Elevations (SEFT.ASH.HP01 and HP02) 
- Highfield-Oakley-Highfield Plans and Elevations (SEFT.HIGHOAK3.HP01 and HP02) 
- Highfield-Oakley-Oakley Plans and Elevations (SEFT.HIGHOAKOAK3.HP01 and HP02) 
- Highfield-Oakley-Oakley Plans and Elevations (SEFT.HIGHOAKOAK4.HP01, HP02 and HP03) 
- Highfield-Oakley-Oakley-Oakley-Highfield Plans and Elevations (SEFT.HGHOAK5.HP01, 

HP02, HP03 and HP04) 
- Oakley-Oakley-Highfield Plans and Elevations (SEFT.OAKOAKHIGH3.HP01 and HP02) 
- Ashton Three Block Plans and Elevations (SEFT.ASH3.HP01, HP02 and HP03) 
- Conwy-Alyn-Alyn-Conwy Plans and Elevations (SEFT.CONALYN4.HP01, HP02, HP03, HP04, 

HP05 and HP06) 
- Conwy-Alyn-Alyn-Alyn-Conwy Plans and Elevations (SEFT.CONALYN5.HP01, HP02, HP03, 

HP04, HP05 and HP06) 
- Henley Plans and Elevations (SEFT.HEN.HP01 and HP02) 
- Evesham Plans and Elevations (SEFT.EVE.HP01, HP02 and HP03) 
- Ashbury Plans and Elevations (SEFT.ASH.HP01, HP02 and HP03) 
- Edinburgh Plans and Elevations (SEFT.EDI.HP01, HP02 and HP03) 
- Canterbury Plans and Elevations (SEFT.CANT.HP01, HP02 and HP03) 
- Heatherington Plans and Elevations (HEA - 00 and 01) 
- Alderton Plans and Elevations (SEFT.ALD.HP01, HP02 and HP03) 
- Salisbury Plans and Elevations (SEFT.SALS.HP01, HP02 and HP03) 
- Wiltshire Plans and Elevations (SEFT.WILT.HP01, HP02 and HP03) 
- Sandringham Plans and Elevations (SEFT.SAND.HP01, HP02 and HP03) 
- Ecological Statement for Habitats Regulations Assessment & Pink-Footed Goose Mitigation 

Strategy at Holgate, Thornton, Merseyside for Proposed development (DC/2021/00417) – 
Rev. E, Rachel Hacking Ecology, 02/03/2022.  
 

Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt. 
 
Prior to Commencement of Development 
 
3) No development shall take place until the land identified on Figure 2, Page 4 of the Ecological 

Statement for Habitats Regulations Assessment & Pink Footed Goose Mitigation Strategy has 
been made fully and freely available for the implementation of works set out within the 
remainder of that document. 

 

Page 30

Agenda Item 4a



 Reason: This is required prior to commencement of development to ensure the findings of 
the Habitats Regulations Assessment are sound and to guarantee that the required 
mitigation is secured in perpetuity. 

 
4)  No development shall commence until a Construction Environmental Management Plan has 

been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The approved 
statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period and shall include the 
following: 

 
 - Pollution, noise and dust control measures including timing of activities in order to prevent 

 disturbance to qualifying species; 
 - Details of piling methodology should this be necessary; 
 - Measures in order to minimise construction waste; 
 - Reasonable Avoidance Measures in relation to terrestrial mammals; 
 - Protective measures to be applied during bird breeding season 
 

Reason: To protect the amenity of adjacent land users and ecological interest of the area, 
prevent air, ground and water pollution and minimise waste. 

 
5)  No development shall commence until a Construction Traffic Management Plan has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan must include 
a programme of works, days and hours of working, a site layout during the construction 
phase, relevant contact details, routes to be taken by delivery vehicles, methods for traffic 
management including directional signage and full details of the proposed measures to 
ensure that mud and other loose materials are not carried on the wheels and chassis of any 
vehicles leaving the site and measures to minimise dust nuisance.  The provisions of the 
approved Construction Traffic Management Plan shall be implemented in full during the 
period of construction. 

 
Reason: This is required prior to the commencement of development in order to ensure the 
safety of highway users during both the construction phase of the development. 

 
6) No development shall take place until a written scheme of archaeological and historic 

building investigation has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The work shall then be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved 
scheme(s). 

 
Reason: In order to ensure appropriate recording or archaeology and non-designated 
heritage assets. 

 
7)  No development shall commence until a preliminary ground contamination investigation 

report has been submitted to and approved in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  The 
report must include: 

 

Page 31

Agenda Item 4a



 - Desk study 
  - Site reconnaissance 
 - Data assessment and reporting 
 - Formulation of initial conceptual model 
 - Preliminary risk assessment 
 

If the Preliminary Risk Assessment identifies there are potentially unacceptable risks a 
detailed scope of works for an intrusive investigation, including details of the risk assessment 
methodologies, must be prepared by a competent person. The contents of the scheme and 
scope of works are subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: The details are required prior to development commencing to ensure that risks from 
land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised. 

 
8)  No development shall commence until the approved scope of works for the investigation and 

assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The report 
shall include an appraisal of remedial options and identification of the most appropriate 
remediation option(s) for each relevant pollutant linkage.  Remediation shall proceed in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason: The details are required prior to development commencing to ensure that risks from 
land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised. 

 
9)  No development shall commence until a remediation strategy to bring the site to a condition 

suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks and the relevant pollutant 
linkages identified in the approved investigation and risk assessment, has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The strategy must include all works 
to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of 
works, site management procedures and roles and responsibilities. The strategy must ensure 
that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 on completion of the development.  The remediation strategy must be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details at all times. 

 
Reason: The details are required prior to development commencing to ensure that risks from 
land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised. 

 
10)  Notwithstanding the equipment required to carry out any remedial works, no equipment, 

machinery or materials shall be brought onto the site for the purposes of the development 
until all protective fencing to retained trees and hedgerow within and adjacent to the site 
has been installed in accordance with the submitted Method Statement (LTM0086.MS.03 
Rev K). The fencing shall be maintained until all equipment, machinery and surplus materials 
have been removed from the site. Nothing shall be stored or placed within any fenced area, 

Page 32

Agenda Item 4a



and the ground levels within those areas shall not be altered, nor shall any excavation be 
made at any time. 

 
Reason: These details are necessary prior to the commencement of development to 
safeguard all existing trees on site. 

 
11) Prior to commencement of development, including that associated with remediation of land 

a Method Statement detailing the measures to prevent the spread of invasive species on 
site, how the plants will be disposed of following removal or treatment and ongoing 
monitoring shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The approved statement shall be adhered to at all times. 

 
 Reason: In order to prevent the spread of invasive species through the development site. 
 
During Building Works 
 
12) Prior to construction of access roads commencing above slab level a detailed scheme of 

traffic calming designed to maintain vehicle speeds at 20mph or less on the proposed access 
roads within the development site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. No part of the respective phase of development (as indicated on the 
submitted Build Phase Plan, SEFT-BUILD-SP.01) shall be occupied until the approved scheme 
has been implemented in full. 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

 
13) Prior to construction of access roads commencing above slab level a detailed scheme of 

street lighting on the proposed access roads within the development site shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be 
implemented in full prior to the respective phase of development being brought into use (as 
indicated on the submitted Build Phase Plan, SEFT-BUILD-SP.01). 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

 
14) No development shall commence above slab level until a detailed scheme of highway works 

together with a programme for their completion has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall include:  

 
- Construction of a new four arm signal-controlled junction with integrated pedestrian/cyclist 

(Toucan facilities) at the site access, 
- 2 metre wide pedestrian footways along both sides of the A565 from the proposed junction 

in a southerly direction to Southport Road and the private access road that serves 71 & 73 
Southport Road, 

Page 33

Agenda Item 4a



- Construction of a minimum 3 metre wide shared use path running along the perimeter of 
the site from the proposed signal controlled junction to the existing Pegasus crossing on 
Broom’s Cross Road. 

No part of the development shall be brought into use until the required highway works 
have been constructed in accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason: These details are required prior to commencement to ensure that acceptable 
access to the development is achieved and to ensure the safety of highway users. 

 
15)  Samples of the facing materials to be used in the external construction of this development 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
materials shall then be used in the construction of the development. 

 
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity. 

 
16)  Before the construction of the following plots above slab level: 8-10, 75-79, 127-131, 181-

183, 195-198, the finished levels shall be subject to a topographical survey to be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The results of these surveys shall 
confirm that the Finished Floor Levels (FFL) of each plot to the levels shown on approved 
Engineering Planning Layout; and no further construction above FFL of external elevations of 
dwellings on those plots shall take place until approval is given as required above.  In the 
event that the submitted surveys fail to confirm the FFL correspond to the levels as 
approved, or are not within 200mm of those levels, new planning application(s) shall be 
submitted for those plots to which the variation relates. 

 
 Reason: To safeguard the living conditions of nearby occupiers and the character and 

appearance of the area whilst ensuring satisfactory drainage. 
 
17)  Prior to construction commencing above slab level of any dwelling highlighted on figure 5 of 

the submitted Noise Impact Assessment (50-213-R1-4) a scheme of acoustic glazing and 
ventilation to all habitable room windows must be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The dwellings shall be constructed in accordance with the 
approved details with the acoustic protection measures maintained thereafter.  

  
Reason: In order to protect the living conditions of future residents from unacceptable levels 
of traffic noise. 

 
Before the Development is Occupied 
 
18) The development shall not be occupied until a detailed scheme of highway works together 

with a programme for their completion has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall include:  

 

Page 34

Agenda Item 4a



- Removal of the existing field access from Southport Road and reinstatement of grassed 
verges, 

- The widening of the existing footway along Park View to at least 2 metres wide from the 
private access road that serves 71 & 73 Southport Road running south along the frontage of 
22 & 24 Park View, 

- Introduction of dropped kerbs and tactile paving across the junction of the private access 
road that serves 71 & 73 Southport Road and Park View, 

- Introduction of dropped kerbs and tactile paving across the junction of Southport 
Road/Park View, 

- The relocation of existing street furniture in the vicinity of the proposed junction, including 
street lighting columns, vehicle actuated speed signs and Thornton Parish Council sign, 

- Removal of the existing Armco style safety barrier fronting 22 & 24 Park View, 
- Yellow box road markings at the proposed signal-controlled junction. 
- Relocation of the existing grasscrete Police mobile camera monitoring position.  

 No part of the development shall be brought into use until the required highway works have 
been constructed in accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason: These details are required prior to commencement to ensure that acceptable access 
to the development is achieved and to ensure the safety of highway users. 
 

19) The development shall not be occupied or brought into use until a Travel Plan comprising 
immediate, continuing and long-term measures to promote and encourage alternatives to 
single-occupancy car use has been prepared, submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The approved Travel Plan shall then be implemented, monitored 
and reviewed in accordance with the agreed Travel Plan Targets.  

 
Reason: In order to meet sustainable transport objectives including a reduction in single 
occupancy car journeys and the increased use of public transport, walking & cycling. 

 
20)  No dwelling shall be occupied until space has been laid out within the curtilage of that 

specific dwelling for car(s) to be parked and that space shall thereafter be kept available for 
the parking of vehicles in perpetuity. 

 
 Reason: To ensure that enough car parking is provided for the development and to ensure 

the safety of highway users. 

 
21)  No dwellinghouse shall be occupied unless and until an electric vehicle charging point for 

that residential unit has been installed and is operational in accordance with details that shall 
previously have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The approved infrastructure shall be permanently retained thereafter.  

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 4a



Reason: To facilitate the use of electric vehicles and to reduce air pollution and carbon 
emissions. 
 

22) No dwelling shall be occupied until facilities for the secure storage of cycles for that 
residential unit have been provided in accordance with details that shall previously have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
storage shall be permanently retained thereafter. 

 
 Reason: To ensure that enough cycle parking is provided for the development in the interest 

of promoting non-car based modes of travel. 
  
23) Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling visibility splays of 2 metres by 25 metres at the 

new junctions within the respective phase of development (as indicated on the submitted 
Build Phase Plan, SEFT-BUILD-SP.01) shall be provided clear of obstruction to visibility at or 
above a height of 0.9 metres above the carriageway level of the new development. Once 
created, these visibility splays shall be maintained clear of any obstruction and retained for 
their intended purpose at all times.  

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety 

 
24) Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling visibility splays of 2.0 metres x 2.0 metres 

measured down each side of the access and the back edge of the footway have been 
provided clear of obstruction to visibility at or above a height of 0.9 metres above the 
footway level of the new development. Once created, these visibility splays shall be 
maintained clear of any obstruction and retained for their intended purpose at all times.  

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

 
25) No part of the development shall be occupied until a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) to 

introduce waiting restrictions on Road 1 of the development to prohibit parking at all times 
has been implemented in full in accordance with details which shall previously have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

 
26) No part of the respective phase of development (as indicated on the submitted Build Phase 

Plan, SEFT-BUILD-SP.01) shall be occupied until a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) for a 20mph 
speed limit on the proposed access roads within the development site has been 
implemented in full in accordance with details which shall previously have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

 

Page 36

Agenda Item 4a



27)  Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied a verification report that 
demonstrates compliance with the agreed remediation objectives and criteria shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised. 

 
28)  In the event that previously unidentified contamination is found at any time when carrying 

out the approved development immediate contact must be made with the Local Planning 
Authority and works must cease in that area. An investigation and risk assessment must be 
undertaken and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared, 
which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Following completion of the remedial works identified in the approved remediation strategy, 
verification of the works must be included in the verification report required by condition 26. 

 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised. 

 
29)  The development hereby permitted, including all components of the sustainable drainage 

system shall be constructed in accordance with the approved Engineering Planning Layout 
Sheets 1 and 2 (41-01-01 Rev P1 and 02 P1) prior to occupation of each respective phase of 
the development (as indicated on the submitted Build Phase Plan, SEFT-BUILD-SP.01).  
 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory drainage facilities are provided to serve the site and in order 
not to increase flood risk elsewhere. 

 
30)  Prior to occupation of development full details of the acoustic screening to gardens of plots 

facing Brooms Cross Road which exceed 50dB as outlined within the submitted Noise Impact 
Assessment (50-213-R1-4) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The approved boundary treatments shall be erected prior to occupation 
of the dwelling they would serve and be maintained thereafter. 

  
Reason: In order to protect the living conditions of future residents from unacceptable levels 
of traffic noise. 

 
31)  No dwellinghouse hereby approved shall be occupied until details of full fibre broadband 

connections to all proposed dwellings within the development has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The infrastructure shall be installed 
prior to occupation and made available for use immediately on occupation of any dwelling or 
apartment in accordance with the approved details.  

  
 Reason: To ensure adequate broadband infrastructure for the new dwellings and to facilitate 

economic growth. 
 

Page 37

Agenda Item 4a



32)  Prior to the occupation of the first dwelling full details of an information pack to be provided 
informing residents of the presence and importance of the designated nature sites, and how 
residents can help protect them shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The agreed information must be provided on first occupation of each 
dwelling.  

 
 Reason: In order to comply with the Habitats Regulations Assessment Regulations and 

mitigate increased recreational pressure on European sites. 
 
33) No dwelling shall be occupied until a scheme for the provision of bat and bird boxes including 

the phasing and timing for their implementation has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority and implemented in accordance with those details 
and maintained thereafter. 

 
 Reason: To secure biodiversity enhancement. 
 
34) No dwelling shall be occupied until a gap of 13cm by 13cm has been provided within the 

base of each of length of boundary fencing serving the respective plot in order to maintain 
connectivity for hedgehog. The gap shall be maintained free of obstruction at all times. 

 
 Reason: To secure biodiversity enhancement. 
 
Ongoing Conditions 
 
35)  Within the first planting/seeding season following practical completion of the final dwelling 

within each phase (as indicated on the submitted Build Phase Plan, SEFT-BUILD-SP.01), all 
planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried 
out; and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the 
development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in 
the next planting season with others of similar size and species. 

 
Reason: To ensure an acceptable visual appearance to the development. 

 
36) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and/or re-enacting that Order 
with or without modification), no extension shall be erected to the dwelling on plot 183 as 
indicated on the approved site plan. 

 
 Reason: In order to protect the living conditions of existing neighbours.  
 

Page 38

Agenda Item 4a



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Date of Meeting: 13th April 2022 

Subject:  DC/2021/02499 
 326 Liverpool Road South, Maghull, Liverpool L31 7DJ       
Proposal: Erection of Retirement Living Housing of 44 residential units (Category ll type 

accommodation) with associated communal facilities, landscaping and car parking 
following the demolition of the existing building (alternative to DC/2020/00418, 
refused 15/04/2021). 

 
Applicant: McCarthy & Stone  
                           Retirement Lifestyles Ltd 
 

Agent: Mr Chris Butt 
 The Planning Bureau Ltd  

Ward:  Park Ward Type: Full Application  
 
Reason for Committee Determination:  Major application with five or more objections 
 
 

 

Summary 
 
This application seeks planning permission to construct a retirement living scheme of 44 
residential units following demolition of the existing club building.  
 
The main issues to consider include the principle of the development and its design, affordable 
housing requirements, the effects on living conditions and highway safety as well as landscaping, 
ecology and drainage considerations. 
 
The proposal complies with adopted local plan policy and, in the absence of any other material 
considerations, the application has the following recommendation: 
 
 

Recommendation: Approve with conditions subject to the following:  
 

(a) The completion of a Section 106 Legal Agreement securing the following: 
- A financial contribution towards off-site affordable housing; 
- A financial contribution towards mitigating recreational pressure on the 

Sefton coast; and 
- A fee to monitor compliance with the legal agreement. 

 
(b) The submission of bat surveys to enable the local planning authority to 

assess the proposals against the three tests (Habitats Regulations). 
 

Page 39

Agenda Item 4b



(c) The submission of additional information to enable the local planning 
authority to complete a Habitats Regulations Assessment which considers 
impacts of recreational pressure on the Sefton coast. 
 

(d) The agreement of Natural England to the findings of the completed Habitats 
Regulations Assessment. 
 

(e) Delegated authority to impose planning conditions and/or Section 106 
requirements recommended by Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service 
and/or Natural England on the additional information. 
 
  

   
Case Officer Diane Humphreys 

 
 

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk  
Telephone 0345 140 0845  
 
Application documents and plans are available at: 

http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=R1C1VFNWMR900 

Page 40

Agenda Item 4b



Site Location Plan 
 

 

Page 41

Agenda Item 4b



The Site 
 
The site comprises the former Royal British Legion premises located on the south side of Liverpool 
Road South and bounded by the Leeds and Liverpool canal to the east with residential property 
situated immediately to the south and west.  
 
The building on the site is brick built and single storey with a pitched roof and flat roof additions. It 
is located fairly centrally on the site (although closer to its western than its eastern boundary) and 
is presently vacant. The building is largely surrounded by hardstanding with a sloped grass 
embankment at the Liverpool Road South frontage due to the site being set at a lower level than 
the road. Access to the site is currently taken from Liverpool Road South at the western end of the 
site frontage.  
 
History 
  
DC/2020/00418 Erection of Retirement Living Housing of 44 residential units (Category ll type 
accommodation) with associated communal facilities, landscaping and car parking following the 
demolition of the existing building. Refused 15 April 2021. Appeal in Progress. 
 
Consultations 
 
Local Plans Manager 
No objection subject to conditions 
 
Maghull Town Council 
The Town Council supports this application and recommends approval. 
 
The Council considers that the changes to the design to create a more sympathetic frontage 
together with the slight reduction in height of the building whilst reducing the shadowing effect to 
neighbours meets the requirements of an acceptable design within the Neighbourhood Plan 
policies and guidance.   
 
Should a Section 106 agreement be required for the site, the Town Council would wish to raise the 
S123 list which is contained within the Neighbourhood Plan. The Council considers that there is no 
further requirement for the Canal & Rivers Trust to be able to access further S106 funds for the 
Canal path by the development given the large sums which have already been granted via 
developments in other parts of the town. The Council has suggested to the developers that they 
contact the CRT regarding the access to the towpath which needs to be level given the age of the 
new residents to the building and needs to be made a public access to see if the CRT can assist. 
 

Page 42

Agenda Item 4b



Conservation Manager 
No objection 
 
Environmental Health Manager 
Noise 
No objection subject to conditions 
 
Contaminated Land 
No objection subject to conditions 
 
Highways Manager 
No objection subject to conditions 
 
Tree Officer 
No objection subject to conditions 
 
Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service 
Two bat surveys are required prior to determination to enable the Council to robustly assess 
potential impacts on bats which are a protected species. The timing for the surveys is May to 
August/September inclusive. If bats are found to be present, the local planning authority must 
assess the proposals against the three tests (Habitats Regulations) and determine whether a 
licence is likely to be granted. Ecology conditions are also recommended. 
 
An updated Habitats Regulations Assessment is also required prior to determination to ensure the 
impacts of recreational pressure are considered in accordance with the updated Information Note. 
 
Natural England 
Further information required to determine impacts on designated sites 
 
Flooding & Drainage 
No objection subject to a condition 
 
United Utilities 
No objection subject to conditions 
 
Canal And River Trust 
No objection subject to conditions 
 
Fire and Rescue Service 
No objection 
 

 
 

Page 43

Agenda Item 4b



Neighbour Representations 
 
Written representations have been received from six local residents raising the following points: 
 
Design 
 

 Design of the building won’t fit in with its surroundings 
 Building is too high and imposing 

 
Highway Safety 
 

 Concerned about dangerous location of the proposed access 
 Concerned about construction traffic 
 Traffic survey conducted at a quiet time 
 Could aggravate current parking problems 

 
Living Conditions 
 

 Four storey building will be too high, imposing and overbearing 
 Loss of privacy 
 Loss of light 
 Concerned about possible security lights and cameras 
 Access to the canal raises security issues 

 
Other Issues 
 

 Lack of consultation with local residents by the developer 
 
The Merseyside and West Lancashire Bat Group point out that further bat survey work is required 
before the application can be determined. 
 

Policy Context 
 
The application site lies within an area designated as primarily residential in the Sefton Local Plan 
which was adopted by the Council in April 2017.   
                                                                                     
The Maghull Neighbourhood Plan was ‘made’ (i.e. adopted) on 24th January 2019 and carries full 
weight in decision making.                                                                                   

Page 44

Agenda Item 4b



 
Assessment of the Proposal 
 
Background 
 
This application is an alternative scheme to that submitted under application DC/2020/00418. The 
latter application had a recommendation to approve, subject to conditions and a Section 106 legal 
agreement, when it was considered by Planning Committee on 14 April 2021. Planning Committee 
resolved that the application be refused for the following reason: 
 

1) The proposed building is not a high quality design and is out of character with the local area 
due to its excessive height and incongruous design. The proposed development is therefore 
contrary to Sefton Local Plan policy EQ2 'Design', Maghull Neighbourhood Plan policy MAG 
4 'Residential Character Areas' and the requirements of the National Planning Policy 
Framework in particular Chapter 12 'Achieving well-designed places'. 

 
The refused application DC/2020/00418 is subject to an appeal which is currently being progressed 
by the Planning Inspectorate. 
 
The application DC/2021/02499 now under consideration seeks to overcome the previous reason 
for refusal. 
 
This application seeks planning permission to construct a retirement living complex of 44 
residential units comprising 23 one bed apartments and 21 two bed apartments within a part 
three/part four storey L-shaped building. It comprises Category II type accommodation, defined as 
‘warden supported self-contained accommodation for the less active elderly, which includes the 
full range of communal facilities’ (Department for Communities). The proposal includes communal 
facilities such as a communal lounge, a house manager’s office and an alarm system. 
 
Issues 
 
The main issues to consider include the principle of the development and its design, affordable 
housing requirements, the effects on living conditions and highway safety as well as landscaping, 
ecology and drainage considerations. 
 
Principle 
 
The development plan for the application site comprises the Sefton Local Plan and the Maghull 
Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
Local Plan 
 
The site lies within an area designated as ‘primarily residential’ in the adopted Sefton Local Plan 

Page 45

Agenda Item 4b



and the proposal for retirement flats is acceptable in principle under policy HC3. In addition, there 
is an identified need for this type of accommodation in Maghull. The proposal will also contribute 
to the Council’s overall housing delivery requirements. 
 
Neighbourhood Plan 
 
The Maghull Neighbourhood Plan was made (i.e. adopted) on 24 January 2019. One of the main 
objectives of the Neighbourhood Plan is to support housing development which meets identified 
needs where such housing is appropriate to its environment with good design features and usable 
public green space for the benefit of all residents.  
 
Policy MAG 4 ‘Residential Character Areas’ sets out that development proposals will be supported 
that respect the distinctive characteristics of the Character Area in which they are located, as 
defined in the Maghull Residential Character Assessment document, in terms of type of 
development, scale, design, open space provision and general layout, and which enhance their 
surroundings. These matters are discussed in more detail in the assessment below. 
 
Conclusion on Principle 
 
There is an identified need for retirement flats in Maghull and the site’s location within a ‘primarily 
residential area’ makes it suitable for the proposed development. The development is therefore 
acceptable in principle. 
 
Design 
 
The proposal comprises an L-shaped building of predominantly 3 storeys in height with a small 
element of 2 storeys on its western elevation and 4 storeys on the majority of its north and east 
elevations overlooking Liverpool Road South and the Leeds and Liverpool canal respectively. 
 
The previous application was refused on the basis of its poor design being out of character with 
the local area with an excessive height and incongruous design. The proposed development was 
therefore contrary to Sefton Local Plan policy EQ2 'Design', Maghull Neighbourhood Plan policy 
MAG 4 'Residential Character Areas' and the requirements of the National Planning Policy 
Framework in particular Chapter 12 'Achieving well-designed places'. 
 
The building now proposed is broadly similar to the building in the refused scheme in terms of its 
scale, general height and siting but its design has been changed to overcome the reason for 
refusal. The current proposal includes a more traditional building style constructed principally of 
red brick with stone detailing and grey tiled pitched roofs.  
 
The applicant’s Design and Access Statement (DAS) provides a detailed evaluation of the proposed 
building’s design and explains that, in terms of height, the top storey of the building will be housed 
in the roof space with dormer windows, the pitched roof design of varying heights and punctuated 

Page 46

Agenda Item 4b



with gables reduces the mass of the building, and its position up to approximately 3 metres below 
road level minimises its impact further. 
 
The building is designed to resemble a canal wharf building with its scale reduced by introducing 
various setbacks to the façade but reflecting its nodal location next to the Red Lion bridge.  
 
Policy MAG 4 ‘Residential Character Areas’ in the Maghull Neighbourhood Plan sets out that 
development proposals will be supported that respect the distinctive characteristics of the 
Character Area in which they are located, as defined in the Maghull Residential Character 
Assessment document, in terms of type of development, scale, design, open space provision and 
general layout, and which enhance their surroundings. 
 
This proposal is within the Parkhaven Character Area. Many houses within the Character Area are 
traditional 1930s villas with tree lined roads as well as considerable tree planting in the gardens. 
The roads are narrow and do not allow parking on both sides. Whilst this proposal is different in 
character than most of the housing in the area, it is at the eastern edge of the area and is close to 
modern buildings on the opposite site of the canal, some of which are larger than two storey 
dwellings. The site is also close to the town centre, which would support a scheme of higher 
density. 
 
The analysis within the DAS explains in detail how the proposed building design has been 
developed to respect the Parkhaven Character Area which, despite the predominance of two 
storey development, does contain similar prominent buildings at other nodal points. 
 
Maghull Town Council had expressed concern on the refused application about its consistency 
with the Parkhaven Character Area. The Town Council supports this current application and 
considers the design to be more sympathetic to the area.   
 
The Canal and River Trust welcomes the positive interaction of the building with the canal corridor. 
  
Overall, the design of the proposed development is considered appropriate for its setting within 
the Parkhaven Character Area, adjacent to the canal and close to the town centre. The current 
design is considered to satisfy Maghull Neighbourhood Plan policy MAG4 ‘Residential Character 
Areas’, Local Plan policy EQ2 ‘Design’ and Chapter 12 ‘Achieving well-designed places’ of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
Affordable Housing 
 
In accordance with Local Plan policy HC1 ‘Affordable and Special Needs Housing’, new 
developments in Maghull that create 15 or more residential units should provide 30% of the 
scheme as affordable housing. This is subject to economic viability. 
 
For the previous application, DC/2020/00418, the applicant made a viability argument and, after 
review by the Council’s viability consultant, a compromise position of £150,000 towards off-site 

Page 47

Agenda Item 4b



affordable housing was agreed. This took account of an uncertainty around sales values and was 
based on the applicant’s ability to charge ground rents. The application had been deferred by 
Planning Committee partly over concerns about viability and the off-site affordable housing 
contribution and the applicant increased their offer to £175,000 towards off-site affordable 
housing. This was still based on their ability to charge ground rents although it was acknowledged 
that legislation was being drawn up to stop this practice. 
 
For the current application, DC/2021/02499, the applicant has submitted a viability appraisal 
concluding that no surplus would be available for off-site affordable housing contributions. The 
Council instructed its retained viability consultants, CP Viability, to undertake an independent 
review of the applicant’s viability appraisal. This found that the scheme could support an off-site 
contribution totalling £251,500. The main reasons for the difference of opinion related to 
assumptions around market values, external build costs, contingency, professional fees and empty 
property costs. 
 
The applicant submitted a rebuttal to the Council’s consultant’s report and in turn our consultant 
provided a response. This discussed the sales values, externals, professional fees, contingency, 
empty property costs and developer return. Following a review, our consultant concluded that an 
adjustment in our external costs to 10% was justifiable. All other assumptions were retained. This 
served to reduce the off-site commuted sum down from £251,500 to £131,500. 
 
The applicants then provided comments on our consultant’s latest findings and our consultant 
responded by discounting some of the comments but accepted there was an error in the 
calculation for Empty Property Costs. Once corrected, the commuted sum contribution was 
calculated at £80,000. 
 
The applicant has agreed to this level of financial contribution and this is supported by the 
Council’s viability consultant. The agreed £80,000 contribution towards off-site affordable housing 
reflects the inability of the applicant to charge ground rents. 
 
With regards to the off-site contribution, part 10 of Local Plan policy HC1 states: 
 
Off-site provision of affordable housing, or a financial contribution of broadly equivalent value, will 
be considered where it can be robustly justified, and where the agreed approach contributes to the 
objective of creating mixed and balanced communities. 
 
In this case, the applicant’s viability consultant advises “the development seeks an off-site 
contribution due to the specialist nature of the retirement development proposed. It is well 
established that affordable housing provision cannot be provided onsite within a single retirement 
block. The management regime and high service charges that are an associated cost of retirement 
schemes render it problematic to mix tenures (open market and affordable) in a block and 
generally deters interest from Registered Providers.” 
 

Page 48

Agenda Item 4b



It is accepted that the affordable housing requirement cannot be met within the retirement 
scheme proposed and the contribution can be secured by a Section 106 legal agreement and used 
in connection with affordable housing provision in the area. 
 
As the justification for accepting no on-site affordable housing is based on the specialist nature of 
the retirement development it is considered appropriate to restrict the age of residents within the 
scheme. The applicant’s Planning Statement advises that the apartments will be occupied by 
persons over 60 years of age and, in the case of a couple, one person must be over the age of 60 
and the other 55 years. This can be covered by condition. 
 
Based on the above assessment, the Council’s policy on affordable housing is met. 
 
Living Conditions 
 
Surrounding Residents 
 
Local residents have raised concerns about overlooking and loss of light. The building has been 
designed so that these impacts are minimised and a drawing has been provided to show how the 
building casts a shadow on the canal at different times of the year. There is a distance of 
approximately 29 metres between the east elevation of the proposed building to the cottages on 
the opposite side of the canal at 6 and 8 Damfield Lane and approximately 40 metres between the 
building’s south elevation and houses at the rear on Buckingham Road (90, 92 and 94). The blank 
gable wall of the adjacent house at 322 Liverpool Road South is over 20 metres away. These 
distances all exceed the minimum separation distances set out in the Council’s ‘New Housing’ 
Supplementary Housing Document (SPD) which is 21 metres between habitable room windows 
and 12 metres between a blank wall and a habitable room window.  
 
There are no windows proposed in the building’s south elevation closest to the boundary with 90 
Buckingham Road.  
 
The Environmental Health Manager recommends that an acoustic barrier is installed along the 
western and southern boundaries of the site to minimise noise impacts on adjacent residents from 
the car park and this can be secured by condition. 
 
A condition for piling works is also recommended to minimise impacts of construction works on 
local residents. 
 
Occupiers of the Site 
 
The Council’s ‘Flats and Houses in Multiple Occupation’ SPD provides guidance on standards of 
amenity expected for occupiers of flats. It sets out that one bedroom flats should have a minimum 
floor area of 37 square metres and a two bedroom flat 61 square metres. The proposed flats all 
exceed this standard. 
 

Page 49

Agenda Item 4b



All habitable rooms should have a window with a reasonable outlook and prospect and the 
proposal complies with this guidance. The ground floor flats on the building’s front elevation will 
be facing a grassed embankment sloping up to the road. Their habitable rooms are served by large 
areas of glazing including a glazed door which opens out onto a terraced area and this is 
considered acceptable. 
 
The Environmental Health Manager has reviewed the submitted noise assessment report and 
recommends conditions to secure suitable schemes of glazing and acoustically treated ventilation 
for all habitable rooms and to minimise noise levels from any new fixed plant on the site. 
 
In terms of outdoor amenity space, the SPD states that it is important for residents to have access 
to an area of outdoor amenity space and a minimum of 20 square metres per flat should be 
provided. This equates to 880 square metres for the 44 proposed apartments. 
 
The applicant has demonstrated that the proposal provides useable outdoor amenity space, 
including communal gardens, patios and paths for exercise, totalling 784 square metres. There are 
also 23 private balconies with a total floor area of approximately 140 square metres. In addition, 
landscaped areas to the north and east of the building provide an attractive outlook for residents 
and total some 597 square metres in area. The quality and quantity of outdoor amenity space 
provided for future occupiers of the site is considered acceptable and in accordance with the SPD 
standards.  
 
Impacts on living conditions are therefore considered acceptable subject to conditions. 
 
Highway Safety 
 
The application, including the applicant’s Transport Statement (TS), has been reviewed by the 
Council’s Highways Manager. 
 
The access arrangements for the site is a 5.5m carriageway with a 2.0m wide footway. The 
Highways Manager advises this is an acceptable access into the site and will provide safe 
pedestrian movements and allow 2 way vehicular traffic. Tactile paving and dropped crossings will 
be required at the junction and inside the site and bus stops should be updated. These measures 
can be secured by condition. 
 
The industry standard TRICS database has been used to obtain estimated trip rates for this current 
proposal, which is an accepted method and has made the comparison of the level of use from 
other similar developments in order to establish the extent of extra traffic that is likely to be 
generated by the proposals. The statement shows that the existing site will generate 7 two way 
trips in the AM peak and 11 two way trips in the PM peak hour. The TS has highlighted that 44 
apartments will generate 3 two way trips in the AM peak and 4 two way trips during PM peak 
period. Therefore, the net impact of the proposed development is likely to generate fewer two 
way vehicular movements during both the AM and PM peak hour periods than the previous use. 
 

Page 50

Agenda Item 4b



Pedestrian movements will increase and will be served by the provision of the new 2.0m footway 
into the site. 
 
The parking provision is shown as 33 car parking spaces for the development which includes the 
provision of 2 disabled parking bays and 2 of the car parking bays will have electric vehicle charging 
points.  There is also an additional bay for ambulance parking, an area for taxi drop off and 
mobility scooter parking will be provided. 
 
The expected level of car parking provisions, as set out in the ‘Sustainable Travel and 
Development’ Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), for this type of development is one space 
for every two units plus one staff parking space per member of residential staff plus 1 visitor space 
per 5 units. Therefore, there should be an expectation for 31 parking spaces associated with the 
development if there are no residential staff. Within the TS the applicant has provided a first 
principles assessment of car parking provisions at other comparable McCarthy & Stone residential 
establishments. This assessment shows that on average the car parking demand is 0.55 spaces per 
apartment. On this basis the car parking demand for the proposed development would be 24 
spaces. 
 
The level and layout of the car parking provision proposed are considered acceptable in view of 
the assessments provided within the TS and comparison to the requirements of the ‘Sustainable 
Travel and Development’ SPD. 
 
Four Sheffield stands are proposed for cycle parking, which will provide cycle parking in excess of 
that required by the SPD. The submission and subsequent implementation of a Residential Travel 
Plan can be secured by condition. 
 
The Highways Manager has raised no objections to the proposal subject to conditions relating to 
access details, off-site highway works, parking provision, a travel plan and a construction traffic 
management plan. 
 
Landscaping 
 
The proposal requires the loss of 6 individual trees and one stem from a group which the Council’s 
Tree Officer does not object to on the basis that the trees are of low quality with one identified as 
dead. Mitigation tree planting on a one for one basis and a landscaping scheme are required in 
accordance with Local Plan policy EQ9 and a condition is recommended to secure this. The scheme 
should include tree planting along the Liverpool Road South frontage and adjacent to the canal. 
 
The proposed landscaping provision accords with policy MAG 4 ‘Residential Character Areas’ 
within the Maghull Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
 
 
 

Page 51

Agenda Item 4b



Ecology 
 
Bats 
 
The applicant has submitted a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal report which has been reviewed by 
Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service (MEAS) and the report is accepted. The report finds 
that the building has deteriorated and is now categorised as having moderate bat roosting 
suitability. Two bat surveys (emergence and/or re-entry) are required before the application can 
be determined as bats are protected species. Timing for the survey work is May to 
August/September inclusive. 
 
If the surveys and report determine that bats are present, the Council must assess the proposals 
against the three tests (Habitats Regulations). 
 
As the survey work cannot be started until May at the earliest, delegated authority is requested to 
seek MEAS’s views on the completed bat survey work and to impose any such conditions 
recommended by MEAS and/or Natural England. 
 
The applicant has submitted a lighting strategy in relation to bats which MEAS advise is acceptable. 
 
Other Ecology Considerations 
 
Conditions are recommended to protect breeding birds and terrestrial mammals and to 
manage/remove invasive species. 
 
Recreational Pressure 
 
In December 2021 the Council adopted an updated Information Note on mitigating the impact of 
recreational pressure on the Sefton coast. As the proposal is for 10 or more net residential units 
and will lead to increased visits to the Sefton coast, the applicant must demonstrate how increased 
recreational pressure will be avoided or mitigated to enable the Council to undertake a Habitats 
Regulations Assessment (HRA) before the application is determined. 
 
The applicant can opt-in to the mitigation measures set out in the Information Note which are a 
commuted sum contribution of £63 per new home for this location and a leaflet to be provided to 
all first-time occupiers. Alternatively, they can provide a bespoke package of mitigation before the 
application is determined to enable the Council to complete an HRA. 
 
The applicant has provided a statement setting out why mitigation should not be sought for this 
development based on the number of occupants and their age, the distance to the coast and the 
likelihood of residents requiring public transport for the journey for which there is no direct route. 
 
MEAS has been consulted on this latest information but it should be noted that the applicant 
agrees to pay the commuted sum contribution for recreational pressure should the Council not 

Page 52

Agenda Item 4b



agree with the applicant’s reasoning and is satisfied that the contribution meets the tests set out 
in the CIL regulations. 
 
For the current application, the commuted sum towards mitigating recreational pressure on the 
Sefton coast would total 44 x £63 = £2,772. 
 
Once the approach is confirmed, MEAS will be able to prepare the HRA with Natural England 
subsequently consulted on the findings of the HRA. Conditions and/or Section 106 contributions 
can be secured as required. 
 
Drainage 

The Flooding and Drainage Manager and United Utilities raise no objections to the proposal 
subject to conditions. 

Section 106 Legal Agreement 
 
Affordable housing is required for this application in accordance with Local Plan policy HC1 as set 
out above under the sub-heading ‘Affordable Housing’. 
 
In lieu of on-site provision, the applicant has agreed an £80,000 financial contribution towards 
affordable housing in the local area. This can be secured through a Section 106 legal agreement. 
 
The Section 106 legal agreement can also secure a financial contribution towards mitigating 
recreational pressure on the Sefton coast following the completion of a Habitats Regulations 
Assessment. 
 
The legal agreement would also secure a commuted sum to monitor compliance with the 
agreement, equivalent to 15% of the planning application fee or £700, whichever is the greater. 
For this application, the monitoring fee would be £3,049.20 based on the fee for the original 
planning application DC/2020/00418. 
 
Maghull Town Council has requested that, should a Section 106 agreement be required for the 
site, they would wish to raise the Section 123 list contained within the Neighbourhood Plan.  

Section 106 Planning obligations assist in mitigating the impact of unacceptable development to 
make it acceptable in planning terms. Planning obligations may only constitute a reason for 
granting planning permission if they meet the tests that they are necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms; they are directly related to the development; and fairly 
and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.  

No evidence has been put forward that any of the infrastructure projects identified in Maghull’s 
neighbourhood plan would be needed to mitigate the impact of this proposal or that they would 
meet the tests above. As such no contribution can be sought from this proposal to those projects.  

Page 53

Agenda Item 4b



Maghull Town Council considers there is no requirement for the Canal and River Trust to have 
further Section 106 funds for the canal path given the large sums which have already been granted 
via developments in other parts of the town. The current proposal does not involve a financial 
contribution towards the canal. 
 
Other Issues 
 
Conservation 
 
Any impact on the significance of nearby non-designated heritage assets or on the Damfield Lane 
Conservation Area, which lies on the opposite side of the A59 (to the east), is considered to be 
minimal and the Conservation team have raised no objections. 
 
Contaminated Land 
 
The Phase 1 desk study report identifies no potential sources of contamination, with the exception 
of ‘made ground’ associated with the previous development of the site, and the overall risk from 
land contamination is considered to be low. The Environmental Health Manager recommends 
standard conditions in relation to contaminated land. 
 
Invasive Species 
 
Japanese knotweed is present on the site and conditions are recommended to secure a suitable 
scheme for controlling the invasive species and remediating the site. 
 
Waste 
 
As the proposal is for major development, Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service recommend 
a waste audit or similar mechanism, such as a site waste management plan, is secured by condition 
in accordance with policy WM8 of the Merseyside and Halton Waste Joint Local Plan which 
requires the minimisation of waste production and efficient use of resources. 
 
Canal 
 
The Canal and River Trust recommends conditions to protect the integrity of the canal. 
 
Broadband 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) outlines how high quality and reliable 
communications infrastructure is essential for economic growth and social well-being. A condition 
is recommended to secure such broadband services for all dwellings within the development in 
accordance with Local Plan policy IN1 ‘Infrastructure and Developer Contributions’ and the NPPF. 
 
 

Page 54

Agenda Item 4b



Planning Balance and Conclusion 
 
The proposal will deliver retirement apartments in Maghull for which there is an identified need 
and will contribute to housing delivery within a ‘primarily residential area’. An appropriate 
contribution to affordable housing is also secured.  
 
The scheme is considered appropriate in visual terms for its canalside setting and location close to 
the town centre in line with Local Plan and Neighbourhood Plan policies on design. 
 
The scheme will not have any significant detrimental impacts on the living conditions of existing 
residents, on future occupiers of the scheme, on matters of highway safety or on landscaping and 
matters of ecology subject to conditions. 
 
The proposal complies with development plan policy and, in the absence of any other material 
considerations, the application has the following recommendation. 

 
Recommendation: Approve with conditions subject to the following:  
 

(a) The completion of a Section 106 Legal Agreement securing the following: 
- A financial contribution towards off-site affordable housing; 
- A financial contribution towards mitigating recreational pressure on the 

Sefton coast; and 
- A fee to monitor compliance with the legal agreement. 

 
(b) The submission of bat surveys to enable the local planning authority to 

assess the proposals against the three tests (Habitats Regulations). 
 

(c) The submission of additional information to enable the local planning 
authority to complete a Habitats Regulations Assessment which considers 
impacts of recreational pressure on the Sefton coast. 
 

(d) The agreement of Natural England to the findings of the completed Habitats 
Regulations Assessment. 
 

(e) Delegated authority to impose planning conditions and/or Section 106 
requirements recommended by Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service 
and/or Natural England on the additional information. 

 

Page 55

Agenda Item 4b



Conditions 

Time Limit for Commencement 
 
1)  The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of five years 

from the date of this permission. 
 
 Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
Approved Plans 
 

2) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans and 
documents: 
 
Drawing No. 0001  Site Location Plan 
Drawing No. 0002 rev B Site and Roof Plan 
Drawing No. 0003 rev B Site and Ground Floor Plan 
Drawing No. 0004 rev B  Boundary Treatments 
Drawing No. 0005 rev A Site Amenity Area Plan 
Drawing No. 1001   Plans 
Drawing No. 2001 rev A Proposed Elevations 
Drawing No. 2002  Elevations sheet 1 of 2 
Drawing No. 2003  Elevations sheet 2 of 2 
Drawing No. 2004 rev B  Site Elevations 
Drawing No. SK-01  Ecological Receptor Location Plan 
Drawing No. SK-02  Assessed Scheme of Lighting 
Drawing No. TPP01 rev C Tree Protection Plan 
Tree Survey and Impact Assessment dated December 2021 
Ecological Lighting Assessment dated March 2022 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt. 

 
Before the Development is Commenced 
 
3)  No development shall commence, including any works of demolition, until details of all 

wheel washing facilities have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The approved measures shall include provision for the wheel washing of 
every vehicle directly engaged in construction/demolition activity prior to it leaving the site 
and shall be implemented during the course of the entire demolition/construction period. 

 
 Reason: To ensure the safety of highway users during both the demolition and construction 

phase of the development. 
 

Page 56

Agenda Item 4b



4)  No development shall commence, including any works of demolition, until a Highways 
Construction Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction 
period. 

 
 Reason: This is required prior to the commencement of development in order to ensure the 

safety of highway users during both the demolition and construction phase of the 
development. If the details are not approved prior to commencement it will prejudice the 
safety of highway users. 

 
5) Should the development incorporate piled foundations, a scheme of piling methodology, 

which provides justification for the method chosen and details noise and vibration 
suppression methods proposed, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented throughout the 
development.  

 
          Reason: To safeguard the living conditions of adjacent occupiers and land users.  
 
6)  No development shall commence, including any works of demolition, until a waste audit or 

similar mechanism, such as a site waste management plan, has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The approved statement shall be 
adhered to throughout the demolition and construction period. 

 
 Reason: To minimise the production of waste and secure efficient use of resources. 
 
7)  No development shall commence until a method statement showing the extent of Japanese 

knotweed and a scheme for its eradication from the site has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The method statement shall include:- 
 i.  A plan showing the extent of the invasive species, 
ii.  what methods of eradication will be used to prevent the plant spreading further, 

including demarcation, 
iii.  what methods of eradication will be used, 
iv.  a timetable for its implementation; and, 
v.  details of ongoing monitoring. 

 
The scheme shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason: The details are required prior to commencement to ensure that Japanese knotweed 
is eradicated from the development site and to prevent the spread of the plant through 
development works. 

 
8)  No development shall commence until the approved scope of works for the investigation and 

assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The report 

Page 57

Agenda Item 4b



shall include an appraisal of remedial options and identification of the most appropriate 
remediation option(s) for each relevant pollutant linkage. Remediation shall proceed in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 
 Reason: The details are required prior to development or site clearance commencing to 

ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring 
land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, ecological systems, property 
and residential amenity and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely 
without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 

 
9)  No development shall commence until a remediation strategy to bring the site to a condition 

suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks and the relevant pollutant 
linkages identified in the approved investigation and risk assessment, has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The strategy must include all works 
to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of 
works, site management procedures and roles and responsibilities. The strategy must ensure 
that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 on completion of the development. The remediation strategy must be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details at all times. 

 
 Reason: The details are required prior to development or site clearance commencing to 

ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring 
land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, ecological systems, property 
and residential amenity and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely 
without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 

 
10)  No development shall commence until a Risk Assessment and Method Statement outlining 

all works to be carried out adjacent to the canal has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The details shall: 
i.  Demonstrate that additional loads from the permanent or any temporary works, plant 

and machinery or storage of materials would not harm the structural integrity of the 
canal infrastructure; 

ii.  Provide detailed cross sections showing the distance from the canal to the proposed 
retaining wall and proposed buildings and relative levels; 

iii.  Include the design, depth and means of construction of the foundations of the retaining 
wall, method for monitoring of vibrations of any piling, together with any other 
proposed earthmoving and excavation works required in connection with demolition or 
construction of the retaining wall and building; 

iv.  Include details of the drainage layout to be provided as part of the retaining wall to deal 
with surface water run-off and current or future leaks/seepage from the canal; 

v.  Specify how the canal will be protected during the works and include any proposed 
protective fencing to be erected to safeguard the waterway infrastructure during 
construction; and 

Page 58

Agenda Item 4b



vi.  Specify the method for how the trees on the boundary with the canal would be removed 
whilst safeguarding the stability of the canal infrastructure. 

 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Risk Assessment and 
Method Statement. 
 
Reason: To protect the structural stability of the canal infrastructure. 

 
During Building Works 
 
11)  No development shall commence above slab level until details of the materials to be used in 

the construction of the external surfaces of the building are submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details. 

 
Reason: These details are required prior to external construction to ensure an acceptable 
visual appearance to the development. 

 
12)  In the event that previously unidentified contamination is found at any time when carrying 

out the approved development immediate contact must be made with the Local Planning 
Authority and works must cease in that area. An investigation and risk assessment must be 
undertaken and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared, 
which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Following completion of the remedial works identified in the approved remediation strategy, 
verification of the works must be included in the verification report required by condition 29. 

 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, ecological 
systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors. 

 
13)  No tree felling, scrub clearance or earth works, shall take place during the period 1 March to 

31 August inclusive unless all buildings, trees, and scrub are first checked by an appropriately 
experienced ecologist to ensure no breeding birds are present. If present, details of how they 
will be protected shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. 

 
Reason: To protect birds during their breeding season. 

 
14) The following reasonable avoidance measures shall be put in place to ensure no adverse           

effects on hedgehog: 
           - a pre-commencement check for hedgehog mammals; 
           - all trenches and excavations should have a means of escape eg a ramp; 

Page 59

Agenda Item 4b



           - any exposed open pipe systems should be capped to prevent mammals gaining access; and 
           - appropriate storage of materials to ensure mammals do not use them. 

 
Reason: To safeguard conservation of species/habitats. 

 
15)  The drainage for the development hereby approved, shall be carried out in accordance with 

the principles set out in the submitted Foul and Surface Water Drainage Strategy outlined in 
the Drainage Impact Assessment Ref P91864/DIA/DJC, Issue 03 prepared by GGP Consult. For 
the avoidance of doubt and unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, foul and surface water shall drain separately and surface water must drain to the 
dedicated surface water sewer at the restricted rate of 5 l/s. No surface water will be 
permitted to drain directly or indirectly into the public foul or combined sewer. The 
development shall be completed in accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to prevent an undue increase in 
surface water run-off and to reduce the risk of flooding. 

 
Before the Development is Occupied 
 
16)  No apartment hereby approved shall be occupied until a validation report confirming the 

remediation treatment carried out on the site in respect of invasive species has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority which demonstrates 
that the site has been free from invasive species for 12 consecutive months. 

 
Reason: The details are required prior to occupation to ensure that Japanese knotweed has 
been eradicated from the development site. 

 
17)  Before the development is occupied, a landscaping scheme covering the land subject of this 

application shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 
including: 

 
i) Existing and proposed levels or contours 
ii) Proposed and existing services above and below ground 
iii) Details of boundary treatments and hard surfaces 
iv) The location, size and species of all trees to be planted 
v) The location, size, species and density of all shrub and ground cover planting 
vi) A schedule of implementation. 

 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity. 

 
18)  Within the first planting/seeding season following completion of the development, all 

planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried 
out; and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the 

Page 60

Agenda Item 4b



development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in 
the next planting season with others of similar size and species. 

 
Reason: To ensure an acceptable visual appearance to the development. 

 
19)  Notwithstanding the details shown on Drawing no. 0004 rev B Boundary Treatments, prior to 

the occupation of the development hereby approved full details of an acoustic barrier to be 
erected along the southern and western boundaries of the proposed car park shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The boundary 
treatment shall be completed as approved before the development is occupied and retained 
as such thereafter. 

 
Reason: To ensure an acceptable visual appearance to the development and to safeguard the 
living conditions of neighbouring/adjacent occupiers. 

 
20)  A scheme of acoustic glazing and acoustically treated ventilation to all habitable rooms shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The approved 
scheme shall be implemented before the dwellings hereby approved are first occupied and 
retained as such thereafter. 

 
Reason:  To safeguard the living conditions of future occupants. 

 
21)  The use hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a written scheme of noise control for 

any plant and equipment to be installed on site has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall thereafter be operated 
and maintained in accordance with the approved details for as long as the use continues. 

 
Reason: To safeguard the living conditions of neighbouring/adjacent occupiers and land 
users. 

 
22)  The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until details of full fibre broadband 

connections to all proposed dwellings within the development has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The infrastructure shall be installed prior 
to occupation and made available for use immediately on occupation of any dwelling in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason: To ensure adequate broadband infrastructure for new dwellings and to facilitate 
economic growth. 

 
23)  The development shall not be occupied until a minimum of two electric vehicle charging 

points have been installed and are made available for use within the development as 
permitted. The approved infrastructure shall be permanently retained thereafter. 

 

Page 61

Agenda Item 4b



Reason: To facilitate the use of electric vehicles and to reduce air pollution and carbon 
emissions. 

 
24)  a) A scheme of works for the proposed vehicular and/or pedestrian access shall be submitted 

to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

b) No part of the development shall be brought into use until a means of vehicular and/or 
pedestrian access to the site/development has been constructed. These works shall be in 
accordance with the scheme approved under (a) above. 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

 
25)  The development shall not be occupied until a detailed scheme of highway works together 

with a programme for their completion has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include: 

i.  New pedestrian tactile dropped crossing on either side of the junction into Liverpool 
Road South; and 

ii.  Updated bus stops adjacent to the new development on both sides of Liverpool Road 
South in conjunction with Merseytravel. 

 
No part of the development shall be brought into use until the required highway works have 
been constructed in accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason: To ensure that enough car parking is provided for the development and to ensure 
the safety of highway users. 

 
26)  No part of the development shall be brought into use until areas for vehicle parking, turning 

and manoeuvring have been laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and drained in 
accordance with the approved plan and these areas shall be retained thereafter for that 
specific use. 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

 
27)  No part of the development shall be brought into use until space and facilities for cycle 

parking have been provided in accordance with the approved plan and these facilities shall 
be retained thereafter for that specific use. 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

 
28)  The development shall not be occupied or brought into use until a Travel Plan comprising 

immediate, continuing and long-term measures to promote and encourage alternatives to 
single-occupancy car use has been prepared, submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The approved Travel Plan shall then be implemented, monitored 
and reviewed in accordance with the agreed Travel Plan Targets. 

Page 62

Agenda Item 4b



 
Reason: In order to meet sustainable transport objectives including a reduction in single 
occupancy car journeys and the increased use of public transport, walking & cycling. 

 
29)  Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied/brought into use a 

verification report that demonstrates compliance with the agreed remediation objectives 
and criteria shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, ecological 
systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors. 

 
30)  The development shall not be occupied until a scheme and appropriate scaled plan 

identifying suitable locations on the site for the erection of bird boxes together with a 
timetable for implementation has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The approved scheme of bird boxes shall be installed in accordance with 
the approved details and timetable. 

 
Reason: To safeguard conservation of species/habitats. 

 
Ongoing Conditions 
 
31)  The occupation of the apartments shall be restricted at all times to people of 60 years and 

above or those over that age with a spouse or partner of at least 55 years old. 
 

Reason: To accord with affordable housing policy. 
 
 
Informatives 
 
1)  This permission is subject to a Section 106 legal agreement. 
 
2)  The applicant is advised that the proposal will require the formal allocation of addresses. 

Contact the Development and Support team on 0151 934 4195 or E-Mail snn@sefton.gov.uk 
to apply for a street name/property number. 

 
3)  The applicant is advised that all works to the adopted highway must be carried out by a 

Council approved contractor at the applicant's expense. Please contact the Highways 
Development and Design Team at HDD.Enquiries@sefton.gov.uk for further information. 

 
4)  Bats may be present in your building. Bats are protected species. If you discover bats you 

must cease work immediately. 

Page 63

Agenda Item 4b



 
5) Unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority, development other than that 

required to be carried out as part of an approved scheme of remediation must not 
commence until conditions 8 and 9 above have been complied with. If unexpected 
contamination is found after development has begun, development must be halted on that 
part of the site affected by the unexpected contamination to the extent specified by the 
Local Planning Authority in writing, until condition 12 has been complied with in relation to 
that contamination. Contaminated land planning conditions must be implemented and 
completed in the order shown on the decision notice above. 

 
6) In relation to condition 5, there are a variety of piling methods available, some of which 

cause considerably greater noise and vibration than others. It is common for the prevailing 
ground conditions to influence the chosen method of piling. Where the prevailing ground 
conditions would permit more than one piling method, the Council would expect the 
contractor to choose the method which causes the least amount of noise and vibration, in 
accordance with the following hierarchy. 
Pressed-in methods, e.g. Hydraulic jacking 
Auger / bored piling 
Diaphragm Walling 
Vibratory piling or vibro-replacement 
Driven piling or dynamic consolidation 

 
Should the contractor propose to use a method which is not the preferred lower impact 
option, then satisfactory justification will need to be provided to demonstrate the piling 
method that is utilised meets Best Practicable Means (BPM). Please note vibration 
monitoring will be required for all piling projects. For further advice on what to include in 
your piling methodology scheme and current standards please contact Sefton’s Pollution 
Control Team. 

Page 64

Agenda Item 4b



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Date of Meeting: 13th April 2022 

Subject:  DC/2021/01317 
 5 - 7 Burbo Bank Road South Blundellsands  Liverpool  L23 6SN       
Proposal: Erection of 8 dwellinghouses and associated infrastructure following demolition of 

existing dwellings. 
 
Applicant: Mr John Lysaght 
  Blundellsands Investments Ltd 
 

Agent: Mr Tony Diaz 
 Diaz Associates  

Ward:  Blundellsands Ward Type: Full Application  
 
Reason for Committee Determination: Update to item previously presented to Planning Committee  
 
 

 

Summary 
 
This application was considered by Planning Committee on 17th November 2021 when it was 
resolved to grant planning permission subject to conditions and the completion of a Section 106 
legal agreement towards education provision. 
 
The legal agreement is still being prepared so the planning permission has not yet been issued. 
Meanwhile, the applicant has tried to satisfy proposed condition 3 of the planning permission but 
has not been successful. Condition 3 involves a scheme for the translocation of dune grassland. 
 
The purpose of this report is to seek approval to delete condition 3 and replace it with a financial 
contribution to be incorporated into the Section 106 legal agreement. 
             

Recommendation: Approve with conditions subject to the completion of 
a Section 106 Legal Agreement to secure commuted sum payments 
towards education provision and biodiversity net gain. 
    
Case Officer Diane Humphreys   
Email  planning.department@sefton.gov.uk  
Telephone 0345 140 0845 
 

Application documents and plans are available at: 

http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=QT94R9NW00600 

Page 65

Agenda Item 4c



Site Location Plan 

 
 

Page 66

Agenda Item 4c



The Site 
 
The application site comprises 5 to 7 Burbo Bank Road South in Blundellsands.            
 
History 
         
Not relevant to this report     
 
Consultations 
 
Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service 
No objection subject to commuted sum 
  
Neighbour Representations 
 
Not relevant to this report 

 
Policy Context 
 
The application site lies within an area designated as residential in the Sefton Local Plan which was 
adopted by the Council in April 2017.                                                         
 
Assessment of the Proposal 
 
This report concerns only the proposal to delete condition 3 and replace it with a financial 
contribution secured within the Section 106 legal agreement. 
 
Proposed condition 3 for this application states: 
 
3) No development shall commence until a detailed scheme for the translocation of dune 

grassland has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
This detailed scheme shall include:  
 

 Provision of a detailed method statement to translocate the dune grassland from 5-7 Burbo 
Bank Road to the adjacent re-developed site (3 Burbo Bank Road.) 

 Provision of a management and monitoring plan for the translocated dune grassland. 
 Provision of a detailed method statement for the seeding (with seeds of plants of local 

provenance) for the proposed grassland area at 5-7 Burbo Bank Road. 

Page 67

Agenda Item 4c



 Provision of a management and monitoring plan for the seeding and subsequent lawn 
growth at 5-7 Burbo Bank Road. 

 
The scheme shall be completed in accordance with the approved details and programme to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority and the management and monitoring arrangements 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details over the period specified. 
 
Reason: The details are required prior to the commencement of development to safeguard 
conservation of species/habitats. 
       
It has not been possible to retain or translocate the required area of grassland and the applicant 
has been working with Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service (MEAS) to identify a suitable 
off-site location. A site at Crosby Coastal Park was identified but found to be undeliverable. 
 
MEAS has confirmed that compensation, in the form of a commuted sum, is now required based 
on the biodiversity unit value of dune grassland loss on the application site. The commuted sum 
has been calculated at £11,400 and should be secured within the Section 106 legal agreement. It 
will contribute towards the implementation of a proposed scheme by GreenSefton known as the 
‘Hightown Meadows’ project.  
 
The ‘Hightown Meadows’ project site is owned by Sefton Council and forms part of Hightown 
Dunes, Meadow and Saltmarsh local wildlife site (LWS) and Ravenmeols and Altcar Foreshore 
Dunes local geological site (LGS). It is located to the south of the settlement of Hightown with the 
Liverpool to Southport railway line forming its eastern boundary and comprises three agriculturally 
unimproved ‘fields’ semi bisected by a strip of semi-mature trees. The project proposes to restore 
the LWS designation features, such as dune grassland, which is currently scrubbed over and 
unmanaged. The commuted sum will be used to part fund the management actions set out in the 
project and MEAS is confident that it will result in a significant biodiversity net gain for dune 
grassland and off-set the loss on the application site. 
 
The recommendation below reflects that agreed at Planning Committee on 17th November 2021 
with the removal of condition 3 and the addition of the commuted sum payment for biodiversity 
net gain within the Section 106 legal agreement. 
 
 
Recommendation: Approve with conditions subject to the completion of 
a Section 106 Legal Agreement to secure commuted sum payments 
towards education provision and biodiversity net gain. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 68

Agenda Item 4c



Time Limit for Commencement 
 
 1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of five years 

from the date of this permission. 
 
 Reason:  In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
Approved Plans 
 
 2) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans and 

documents: 
 

Drawing No. 682-01-A Site and Location Plan 
Drawing No. 682-02 Plot 8 and 9 
Drawing No. 682-03 Plot 10 
Drawing No. 682-04 Plot 11 and 12 
Drawing No. 682-05 Plot 13 
Drawing No. 682-06 Plot 14 
Drawing No. 682-07 Plot 15 
Drawing No. 682-08 Street Views 
Drawing No. 682-11 Landscape and Boundary Treatment Plan 
Drawing No. 10680-S-DR-XX-00-6001-P2 Drainage Layout 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt. 

 
During Building Works 
 
 3) No development shall commence above slab level until details of the materials to be used in 

the construction of the external surfaces of the dwellings are submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details. 

 
 Reason: These details are required prior to external construction to ensure an acceptable 

visual appearance to the development. 
 
 4) No tree, shrub or hedgerow felling, or any vegetation management and/ or cutting 

operations shall take place during the period 1st March to 31st August inclusive unless first 
checked by an appropriately experienced ecologist to ensure no breeding birds are present. 
if present, details of how they will be protected shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority and the approved measures shall be implemented in 
full for the duration of the works. 

 
 Reason: To protect birds during their breeding season. 

Page 69

Agenda Item 4c



 
Before the Development is Occupied 
 
 5) Prior to occupation of the first dwelling full details of an information leaflet to be included in 

the sales packs informing residents of the presence and importance of the designated nature 
sites and how residents can help protect them, including a responsible user code and a list of 
alternative green spaces, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved information leaflet shall be provided on first occupation of each 
dwelling. 

 
 Reason: In order to comply with the conclusions of the Appropriate Assessment and mitigate 

increased recreational pressure on national and international sites. 
 
 6) a) A scheme of works for the proposed vehicular and/or pedestrian access shall be submitted 

to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
 
 b) No part of the development shall be brought into use until a means of vehicular and/or 

pedestrian access to the site/development has been constructed. These works shall be in 
accordance with the scheme approved under (a) above. 

 
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
 7) a) Before the development is occupied a detailed scheme of highway improvement works 

together with a programme for the completion of the works shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include: 

  
 Alterations to the existing access road at its junction with Burbo Bank Road South to 

provide improved radii and footway 
 Removal of the existing footway crossing serving no.5 Burbo Bank Road South and its 

reconstruction as footway 
 Introduction of dropped kerbs and tactile paving across the junction of the access road 

and Burbo Bank Road South 
 Reconstruction of the footway on the south west side of Burbo Bank Road South across 

the full frontage of the site; and 
 
 b) No part of the development shall be brought into use until the required highway 

improvement works have been constructed in accordance with the details approved under 
(a) above. 

 
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
 8) The development shall not be occupied until details of electric vehicle charging points 

(minimum one per dwelling) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. No dwelling shall be occupied until the electric vehicle charging point(s) 

Page 70

Agenda Item 4c



for that dwelling has been installed and is operational in accordance with the approved 
details. The approved infrastructure shall be permanently retained thereafter. 

 
 Reason: To facilitate the use of electric vehicles and to reduce air pollution and carbon 

emissions. 
 
9) No dwelling hereby approved shall be occupied until details of full fibre broadband 

connections to all proposed dwellings within the development has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The infrastructure shall be installed prior 
to occupation and made available for use immediately on occupation of any dwelling in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 
 Reason: To ensure adequate broadband infrastructure for new dwellings and to facilitate 

economic growth. 
 
10) The approved hard and soft landscaping scheme shall be carried out prior to first occupation 

of any part of the development hereby permitted or in accordance with a timetable agreed 
in writing with the Local Planning Authority. Any trees or plants within a period of five years 
after planting, that are removed, die or become, in the opinion of the Local Planning 
Authority, seriously damaged or defective shall be replaced with others of a species, size and 
number as originally approved in the first available planting season. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of visual amenity. 
 
11) Before the development hereby permitted is first brought into use or occupied, a plan 

detailing the positions, height, design, materials and type of all existing and proposed 
boundary treatments and a timetable for their implementation shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The boundary treatments shall be 
completed in accordance with the approved details and shall thereafter be retained at all 
times. 

 
 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance and to safeguard the living conditions of 

nearby occupiers. 
 
12) The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved drainage layout drawing 

no. 10680-S-DR-XX-00-6001-P2 before the development hereby permitted is first brought 
into use and retained thereafter in perpetuity. 

 
 Reason: In order to promote sustainable development, in order to secure proper drainage 

and to manage risk of flooding and pollution. 
 

Page 71

Agenda Item 4c



Ongoing Conditions 
 
13) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification), no garages, outbuildings, dormer windows, balconies or other 
extensions to a dwelling shall be erected unless expressly authorised by this permission. 

 
 Reason: In order to protect the character of the area/ residential amenities of nearby 

occupants. 
 
14) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification), no gates shall be erected on the access road on the south-east side of 
the site. 

 
 Reason: To encourage social inclusion and cohesive communities. 
 
15) There shall be no access along the rear (south-west) boundary of the site through to the 

adjacent Coastal Park. 
 
 Reason: To safeguard the integrity of the site of nature conservation importance. 
    
 
Informatives 
 
 1) The applicant is advised that the proposal will require the formal allocation of addresses. 

Contact the Development and Support team on 0151 934 4569 or E-Mail snn@sefton.gov.uk 
to apply for a street name/property number. 

 
 2) The applicant is advised that all works to the adopted highway must be carried out by a 

Council approved contractor at the applicant's expense. Please contact the Highways 
Development and Design Team at HDD.Enquiries@sefton.gov.uk for further information. 

 
 3) If the proposed development is to incorporate piling in the foundation detail, the developer 

is advised to consult with Sefton Council Pollution Control (email 
ETSContact@sefton.gov.uk). This will reduce the chance of enforcement action which could 
occur if an unsuitable method of piling is chosen without appropriate consultation and which 
subsequently causes nuisance by way of noise and/or vibration.  

 
 4) The applicant, their advisers and contractors should be made aware that if any European or 

UK protected species are found, then as a legal requirement, work must cease and advice 
must be sought from a licensed specialist. 

 
 5) This permission is subject to a Section 106 legal agreement. 

Page 72

Agenda Item 4c



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Date of Meeting: 13th April 2022 

Subject:  DC/2022/00011 
 2 Chipping Avenue Ainsdale  Southport  PR8 2SG       
 
Proposal: Erection of a part two/single-storey extension to the rear/ side, a first floor 

extension to the side, a single-storey porch to the front, alterations to front and 
side roof from flat to pitched, and insertion of 2 first floor windows and roof-light 
to side (west) elevation of the dwellinghouse 

 
Applicant: MR PHILIP WILLIAMS 
   
 

Agent: Mr Graham Dowell 
 dowelldesignservices  

Ward:  Ainsdale Ward Type: Householder application  
 
Reason for Committee Determination:  Called in by Councillor Thompson  
 
 

 

Summary 
The main issues to consider are the impacts on the living conditions of the neighbouring occupiers 
and the impact on the character of the area. 
 
It is considered that the extension would not cause significant harm to the living conditions of 
neighbouring residents, would be of an acceptable design and would be acceptable in the wider 
street scene.   It is considered that the proposal would be generally compliant with the Local Plan 
and is recommended for approval.   
 
 

Recommendation: Approve with Conditions  
 
   
Case Officer Lynne Poulton 

 
 

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk  
Telephone 0345 140 0845  
 
 

Application documents and plans are available at: 

http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=R58H9WNWG8200 

Page 73

Agenda Item 4d



Site Location Plan 
 

 

Page 74

Agenda Item 4d



The Site 
            
A detached two storey dwellinghouse situated on the north side of Chipping Avenue.  Nos. 26 and 
28 Westminster Drive back onto the side of the site. 
  
History 
         
Three previous applications have been approved at the site for two first floor extensions to the 
side in July 1975, August 1978 and April 1980 (application ref: S/09155, S/13789, S/02239).  
However, none of the approved developments were implemented.    
 
Consultations 
 
Tree Officer – No comments to date. 
 
  
Neighbour Representations 
 
Correspondence has been received from residents in Chipping Avenue and Westminster Drive 
objecting on the following grounds:  
 
Living Conditions 
-  Loss of light to landing window and a back lounge window will lose all natural light, light is 

important on health and safety grounds 
-  Loss of light and overshadowing to garden area 
-   Will block air and space to neighbouring property 
-  Loss of amenity and feeling of enclosure due to reduced interface distance and width of 

extension and proximity to boundary 
-  Extension will have an overbearing and over-dominant impact on occupiers of 28 Westminster 

Drive 
-   Failure to comply with Council guidance due to reduced interface distance, overshadowing and 

impact on outlook. 
 
- Council guidance (SPD para 4.3c) limits two storey extensions to 3m projections whereas the 

proposal is for 3.5 metres 
- Bedroom 2 would represent poor quality accommodation for future occupiers 
- Unacceptable impact on privacy for both future and neighbouring occupiers 
- Extension would appear intrusive 
- Breach of covenant in relation to right to light 
 
 
 

Page 75

Agenda Item 4d



Character of the area 
-  No other existing two storey rear extensions in the area 
-  Extension will hugely dominate a rather compact corner (Chipping/Westminster) 
-  Concept of South Beach Park Estate was open plan, various covenants were made to support 

this 
 
Trees 
-  Concerned about large tree in their rear garden, again this restricts light into garden and is 

dangerously high 
-  Agent has ticked the box to say that there are no trees within falling distance of the proposed 

extensions. There are 2 trees that appear to suggest otherwise, one in the applicant's garden 
and a Mulberry tree in 28 Westminster Drive 

  

 
Policy Context 
 
The application site lies within an area designated as primarily residential in the Sefton Local Plan 
which was adopted by the Council in April 2017.  
 

 Assessment of the Proposal 
 

The main issues to consider are the impact of the proposals on the living conditions of the 
neighbouring occupiers and the impact on the character of the area. 
 
Living conditions 
 

The two-storey extension would project 3.5m to the rear.  The dwellinghouse is on a staggered 
building line and the extension would not project as far as the rear building line of No. 4 Chipping 
Avenue.   There are windows to the side elevation of No. 4, however these are obscurely glazed 
serving a bathroom and the landing which are classed as non-habitable rooms.  No adverse impact 
would therefore be created to the living conditions of the occupiers of No. 4. 
 
This satisfied the Council’s guidance that two storey rear extensions should not project more than 
3m where they do not have an adverse effect on neighbouring properties.   
 
A first-floor extension is also proposed to the side of the application property.   The plans show 
that there would be a distance of 12m from this extension to the rear elevation of No. 28 
Westminster Drive which is consistent with the Council’s guidance. 
 
Objections have been received on the grounds that the proposed extension would be overbearing, 
oppressive and overshadowing on the rear windows and garden area of neighbouring properties 
to Westminster Drive.   In relation to outlook, the extension would comply with the Council’s 
guidelines on interface distances when taken from the rear window, whilst the first floor side 
element would be set away from the shared boundary and against the backdrop of the existing 

Page 76

Agenda Item 4d



house.  The application property is located south of properties on Westminster Drive and as a 
result is likely to cause some overshadowing of the rear garden area.  However, due to the 
orientation of the properties and the scale of the existing property, this would be limited to the 
late afternoon/early evening and would not be significant.  Amended drawings have been received 
changing the roof to a hipped roof which would slope away from the neighbouring properties, 
thereby reducing overshadowing and dominance of the extension.     
 

It is proposed to install two new windows to the side elevation of bedroom 2.  One of these 
windows would face the gable wall of No. 4 resulting in a poor outlook.  However, the other 
window would have an outlook over the flat roof garage of No. 4 and is considered acceptable.  As 
this view would be over the front garden area, where a reduced level of privacy is expected, the 
proposal would not lead to overlooking.  A roof light would be installed in the roof slope of the 
house to provide additional light to bedroom 2 and ensure than an acceptable standard of living.  
 

There would be an interface distance of approximately 7.95m to the rear garden boundary of No. 
24 Westminster Drive which is lower than the Council’s guidance of 10.5m.  However, because the 
application site is at right angles to that garden which is quite large there is no concern about loss 
of privacy to the occupiers of No. 24.    
 

A small porch is proposed to the front elevation and would not cause harm to the living conditions 
of neighbouring residents. 
 
Character of the area 
 

The two storey rear extension would have restricted views from the wider street scene, whilst the 
first floor extension would be significantly set back from the front elevation.  The extension would 
be subordinate in scale and its roof pitch would complement the existing property.  The proposed 
porch would conform with the design of the existing house, whilst the conversion of the flat roof 
to a hip above the existing garage would be a visual improvement.  The extension would introduce 
render to the elevations, but this material is found elsewhere in the area and would not cause 
harm to the character of the area.     
 
Trees and Development 
 

The applicants have confirmed that a large conifer tree in the rear garden of the application 
property would either be cut back or felled.  This tree is located in the far corner of the rear 
garden, it is not protected and is unlikely to be impacted upon by the proposed extension.   The 
Council’s arboricultural officer has been consulted and is of the view the tree could be successfully 
retained with the implementation of the proposed scheme. However, he believes it does not have 
sufficient visual amenity value to warrant being protected and would not object to its removal.  
 
Other issues  
    

Concerns have been expressed regarding issues associated with the conveyancing, deeds and the 
right to light.  These are a civil matter. 
  

Page 77

Agenda Item 4d



Conclusion  
 
The proposed extension would project closer to properties on Westminster Drive reducing the 
outlook to these properties. However, as the interface distances are consistent with those 
recommended in the Council’s guidance in key aspects, any impact on outlook would not be 
considered unacceptable.  Similarly, whilst the extension may create some additional 
overshadowing to the rear garden areas of properties on Westminster Road, this would not be 
unreasonable given the orientation of properties, overall scale of the extension and distance 
between them.  The proposal would be of an acceptable design and would be acceptable in the 
wider street scene.  The proposal is generally compliant with the Local Plan and is recommended 
for approval.    
       

Recommendation - Approve with Conditions  
 
Time Limit for Commencement 
 
 1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of five years from the 

date of this permission. 
 
 Reason:  In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in Section 91 of 

the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
Approved Plans 
 
 2) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans and 

documents:   
 
 location plan 
 site plan 
 amended floor plan + elevations 03 (March 2022) 
 
 Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt. 
 
During Building Works 
 
 3) The external surfaces of the extensions shall be constructed of the materials specified on the 

planning application forms and shown on the plan ref:   
 
 03 March 2022.  
 
 Reason: To ensure an acceptable visual appearance to the development. 

Page 78

Agenda Item 4d



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Date of Meeting: 13th April 2022 

Subject:  DC/2021/01677 
 26 Elsworth Close Formby  Liverpool  L37 2YS       
 
Proposal: Erection of a part two storey, part first floor extension to the front incorporating a 

porch, first floor extension to the side incorporating a Juliette balcony to the rear, 
a single storey extension to the rear and the raising of the ridge height of the 
dwelling. 

 
Applicant: Mr & Mrs Dodd 
   
 

Agent: Mr David Robson 
 William Martin Property Consultants  

Ward:  Harington Ward Type: Householder application  
 
Reason for Committee Determination:  Referred to Committee by Chief Planning Officer 
 
 

 

Summary 
             
The proposal seeks planning permission for the erection of a part two storey, part first floor 
extension to the front incorporating a porch, first floor extension to the side incorporating a 
Juliette balcony to the rear, a single storey extension to the rear and the raising of the ridge height 
of the dwelling. 
 
The main issues to consider are the impact on the living conditions of the neighbouring properties 
and the impact on the character and appearance of the area. 
 
It is considered the proposal would not cause significant harm to the living conditions of the 
neighbouring properties and whilst different in design from the existing house would not cause 
significant harm to the character and appearance of the street scene.  The proposal is considered 
acceptable on balance and is recommended for approval subject to conditions. 
 

Recommendation: Approve with Conditions  
 
Case Officer Stephen O'Reilly 

 
 

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk  
Telephone 0345 140 0845  
 
Application documents and plans are available at:http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-

applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=QVGBLKNWKV300 

Page 79

Agenda Item 4e



Site Location Plan 
 

Page 80

Agenda Item 4e



The Site 
            
The application relates to a detached two storey dwelling on the east side of Elsworth Close, 
Formby. 
 
History 
        
No relevant applications for the application site, however there is a relevant application at number 
22 Elsworth for the construction of first floor extensions to the front/right side and to the left side 
of the dwellinghouse including alterations to the elevations approved under reference 
DC/2015/00320. This is similar to the current proposal. 
 
Consultations 
 
None 
  
Neighbour Representations 
          
One letter received from a neighbouring property objecting for the following reasons: 
 
Living Conditions 
North facing gable will be forward of adjoining property's west facing bedroom windows; it will 

significantly change the design, increase the height and width and gradient of the roof leading to  
increased overshadowing and loss of light to rear garden 

- Proposed Juliette balcony will allow overlooking of rear garden and patio area and lead to loss of 
privacy 

- East facing single storey extension is forward of the building line to adjoining bungalow 
 
Drainage  
- Surface water drain is situated 1.5m from the corner on the south facing gable of adjoining 

property - concern as the drain route is not indicated on the planning application  
 
Other Matters 
- Street Scene plan not accurate 
 
In relation to the surface water drain, this is a Building Regulations matter and not a material 
planning consideration. 
 
Following the receipt of amended plans and a change in description, further notification was 
undertaken.  Two further letters have been received from the same property objecting on the 
following grounds: 
 

Page 81

Agenda Item 4e



Living conditions 
- Amended plans still adversely affect access to light and increase overshadowing  
- Will reduce light into the only bathroom 
- Proposed north facing gable end, its roof and west facing pediment nearest to 28 will significantly 

change the design, increase the height and width of the proposed new north facing gable end 
and roof  

 
Policy Context 
 
The application site lies within an area designated as Primarily Residential in the Sefton Local Plan 
which was adopted by the Council in April 2017.   
          
The Formby and Little Altcar Neighbourhood Plan was ‘made’ (i.e. adopted) on 21st November 
2019 and carries full weight in decision making.                 

Page 82

Agenda Item 4e



 
Assessment of the Proposal 
       
The main issues to consider are the impact on the living conditions of the neighbouring properties 
and the impact on the character and appearance of the area. 
 
Living Conditions 
 
Policy HC4 (House Extensions, Houses in Multiple Occupation and Flats) seeks to ensure that 
extensions are designed so that there is no significant reduction in the living conditions of the 
occupiers of neighbouring properties with loss of outlook, loss of light/overshadowing, over-
bearing or over-dominant effect, or a significant loss of privacy. 
 
The increase in height of the ridge of the house would result in some additional overshadowing to 
the rear of number 28 Elsworth Close; however, as this would be limited to the late evening, it is 
considered that this would not cause significant harm to the neighbour’s enjoyment of the rear 
garden area.   
 
Number 28 has a bathroom window to the side elevation facing the application site which, being 
north of the application site, will be overshadowed to some extent. However, as the window 
serves a bathroom, any loss of light would not cause significant harm to the neighbour’s living 
conditions.   
 
Number 24 has a side window facing the side elevation of the proposed first floor extension.  This 
is a secondary window to a bedroom and is obscurely glazed, so the proposal would not impact on 
the outlook from this window.  Given the application site is north of No.24, the proposal (including 
the increase in height of the roof of the existing house) would not cause a significant loss of light to 
this window or rear garden area. 
  
A window is proposed to the side elevation facing onto number 24 Elsworth Close. This would be a 
secondary window to the bedroom and could be conditioned to be fitted with obscure glass to 
ensure that there is no loss of privacy to the neighbour.   
 
A Juliette balcony is proposed to the rear elevation of the first-floor extension.  This will give 
oblique views over the rear garden of number 24.  This would offer a similar outlook as a window 
and would not result in a significant loss of privacy to either numbers 24 or 28. 
 
The modest extensions to front and rear will not cause loss of outlook, overshadowing or 
overlooking.  
 
 
 
 

Page 83

Agenda Item 4e



Character 
 
Policy HC4 of the Local Plan is again relevant in relation to the design of the proposed extension, 
and policy ESD2(High Quality Design) of the Formby and Little Altcar Neighbourhood Plan seeks to 
achieve high quality design. 
 
Elsworth Close has a mixture of designs to dwellings, with some single storey and some two storey.  
The proposed increase in height would result in a ridge height lower than number 22 Elsworth 
Close which is two properties along, while the roof profile would be similar.  The increase in ridge 
height, as amended, would be similar to that which was granted planning permission to number 
22.  It would also maintain a two-storey property, albeit with a steeper roof. 
 
The proposal would be finished in render.  While this is not a common feature of the Close, 
number 22 does have a full rendered finish, with other properties within the area having a mixture 
of render and brick work or brick work alone.  Consequently, whilst it is proposed to increase the 
size and scale of the existing house, in addition to a complete change in the external facing 
materials, it is considered that this would not be out of character within the wider street scene.   
 
Conclusion  
 
The proposal will not cause any significant harm to the living conditions of the neighbouring 
properties, subject to a condition requiring a first floor side window to be fitted with obscure glass.  
The proposal would result in an increase in the massing and scale of the existing house, along with 
an overall change in the materials of the property. These changes would not be inconsistent with 
other development in this street and so would not cause significant harm to the character and 
appearance of the street scene or wider area. 
 
The proposal is therefore considered acceptable on balance and is recommended for approval 
subject to the conditions below. 
     
 
Recommendation - Approve with Conditions  
 
Time Limit for Commencement 
 
1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of five years 

from the date of this permission. 
 
 Reason:  In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
 
 

Page 84

Agenda Item 4e



Approved Plans 
 
2) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans and 

documents: 12000.04 Rev A, 12000.05 Rev A, 1200.06 Rev A, 12000.07, 12000.08, 12000.09 
 
 Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt. 
 
Before the Development is Occupied 
 
3) Before the development hereby permitted is first occupied, the first floor window to the side 

elevation serving bedroom 1 shall be fitted with obscured glazing to a specification of no less 
than level 3 of the Pilkington Glass Scale and any part of the window that is less than 1.7m 
above the floor of the room in which it is installed shall be non-opening. The windows shall 
be permanently retained in that condition thereafter. 

 
 Reason: To ensure that the privacy of neighbouring occupiers/land users is retained at all 

times. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 85

Agenda Item 4e



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Date of Meeting: 13th April 2022 

Subject:  DC/2021/02862 
 12 Wright Street Southport  PR9 0TL         
Proposal: Proposed conversion from office to a residential dwelling, comprising of 2 No. 

bedrooms, and alterations to windows. 
 
Applicant: Mr Edwin Davidson 
  Regency Developments 
 

Agent: Mr Alison Tudor 
 RAL Architects Limited  

Ward:  Dukes Ward Type: Full Application  
 
Reason for Committee Determination:  Referred to Committee by Chief Planning Officer 
 
 
 

 

Summary 
             
The proposal seeks planning permission for the conversion of and existing office to a residential 
dwelling, comprising2 bedrooms, along with alterations to the windows. 
 
The main issues to consider are the principle of development, the impact on the living conditions 
of future occupiers and neighbouring properties, the impact on the character and appearance of 
the area and the impact on highway safety. 
 
While the proposal would not comply with aspects of the Council’s guidance, there are specific 
factors which justify this and on balance it is considered to be acceptable.  

 
Recommendation: Approve with Conditions  
 
   
Case Officer Stephen O'Reilly 

 
 

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk  
Telephone 0345 140 0845  
 

Application documents and plans are available at: 

http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=R3UMUSNWFV900 

Page 87

Agenda Item 4f



Site Location Plan 

 

Page 88

Agenda Item 4f



The Site 
            
The application relates to an existing two storey commercial premises on the south east side of 
Wright Street, Southport. 
 
History 
         
Various applications, the most relevant being DC/2021/0243, which sought prior approval for the 
change of use of the existing office to a dwelling.  This application was however refused as the 
works had already commenced on the proposed conversion. 
     
Consultations 
 
Natural England 
No comments to make  
  
Conservation 
No objection.  Application will have no impact on the settings of nearby Grate II listed Buildings, 22 
and 24 Hoghton Street. 
  
Network Rail London North Western (North) 
No comments to make 
 
Highways Manager 
No objections subject to conditions relating to an electric vehicle charging point, cycle parking and 
off site highway improvements 
  
Neighbour Representations 
          
One letter has been received neither objecting to or supporting the development. 

 
Policy Context 
 
The application site lies within an area designated as Southport Central Area in the Sefton Local 
Plan which was adopted by the Council in April 2017.   
                                                        
                                                         
                                                        

Page 89

Agenda Item 4f



Assessment of the Proposal 
       
The main issues to consider are the principle of development, the impact on the living conditions 
of future occupiers and neighbouring properties, the impact on the character and appearance of 
the area and highway safety. 
 
Principle 
 

The application site lies within an area identified as Southport Central Area within the Local Plan 
and Policy ED7 (Southport Central Area) which supports a variety of uses including conversion of 
upper floors to residential use.   
 
The conversion of the overall property goes beyond this. However, the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015, as amended, recognises the conversion of office 
units as a permitted use (subject to prior approval), demonstrating support for town centre living.  
The principle of this use is therefore acceptable. 
 
Living Conditions 
 
The Council’s guidance for new housing development set out standards for interface distances and 
private amenity space.   
 
Private outdoor amenity space 
The Council’s guidance is for 50sq m private outdoor amenity space for 2 bedroom dwellings.  This 
scheme includes 53sq m but 17sq m is at the front and therefore not private and so this area 
would not normally be taken into account.  A smaller amount may be acceptable if the site is 
constrained, or if this is characteristic of the area.  Both of these apply in this situation. 
 
It would also be possible for this conversion to take place using permitted development rights 
without having to provide any outdoor amenity space. 
 
In the light of these factors, it is considered that the reduced amount is acceptable.   
 
Aspect and overlooking 
The distance between the rear window of the proposed second bedroom falls well short of the 
Council’s minimum recommended distance of 21.5m, achieving only 6.9m. 
 
However, the room has a secondary, smaller window to the side.  This overlooks the front of 
Beechfield Mews. That is already overlooked by other properties so would not cause any greater 
harm. This secondary window offers good light and outlook. Given the main window does not 
meet the minimum standards to nearby habitable room window, it is recommended that it is 
obscurely glazed. This can be secured by condition. It will still allow good levels of light into the 
bedroom.   
 

Page 90

Agenda Item 4f



Character  
 
The proposal would involve minimal alterations to the appearance of the building with a front 
garden area enclosed by a 900mm fence.  A condition can be attached to require details of this 
planting and to ensure it is retained. 
 
The enclosure of the area to the front would be similar to others within Wright Street and is 
acceptable within the wider street scene. 
 
Highway Safety 
 
1 off road car parking space would be provided, which falls short of the Council’s guidance but it 
considered acceptable given the site is very accessible in this town centre location. 
 
Cycle parking can be provided to the rear of the site as indicated on the submitted plans. 
An electric vehicle charging point will be required, and this can be secured by condition. 
 
 
Planning Balance and Conclusion 
 
The shortfall in amenity space is considered acceptable given the circumstances of this case and 
that the use would normally be permitted development. The reduced distance at the rear of the 
second bedroom can be overcome by obscurely glazing this window, and the secondary window 
provides a reasonable outlook. The proposal is therefore considered acceptable overall subject to 
conditions. 
 

Recommendation - Approve with Conditions  
 
Time Limit for Commencement 
 
1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of five years from the 

date of this permission. 
 
 Reason:  In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in Section 91 of 

the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
Approved Plans 
 
2) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans and 

documents: G01, G02, L01. 
 
 Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt. 
 
Before the Development is Occupied 

Page 91

Agenda Item 4f



 
 3) The development shall not be occupied until a detailed scheme of highway works together 

with a programme for their completion has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall include: Alterations to the footway to 
reinstate part of the existing vehicle crossing as footway; Alterations to the existing H-
bracket road markings fronting the property.  No part of the development shall be brought 
into use until the required highway works have been constructed in accordance with the 
approved details. 

 
 Reason: To ensure that enough car parking is provided for the development and to ensure 

the safety of highway users. 
 
4) The hereby approved dwelling shall not be occupied until space has been laid out within the 

curtilage of the site for one car to be parked and that space shall thereafter be kept available 
for the parking of vehicles in perpetuity. 

 
 Reason: To ensure that enough car parking is provided for the development and to ensure 

the safety of highway users. 
 
5) The development shall not be occupied until facilities for the secure storage of cycles have 

been provided, they shall be retained in perpetuity thereafter. 
 
 Reason: To ensure that enough cycle parking is provided for the development in the interest 

of promoting non-car based modes of travel. 
 
6) The development shall not be occupied until an electric vehicle charging point has been 

installed and is operational.  The approved infrastructure shall be permanently retained 
thereafter. 

 
 Reason: To facilitate the use of electric vehicles and to reduce air pollution and carbon 

emissions. 
 
7) The hereby approved dwelling shall not be occupied until full fibre broadband connections to 

the dwelling has been installed prior to occupation and made available for use immediately 
on occupation of the dwelling.  

 
 Reason:  To ensure adequate broadband infrastructure for new dwellings and to facilitate 

economic growth. 
 
8) Before the development hereby permitted is first occupied, the window at first floor level to 

the rear, serving bedroom 2 shall be fitted with obscured glazing to a specification of no less 
than level 3 of the Pilkington Glass Scale and any part of the window that is less than 1.7m 
above the floor of the room in which it is installed shall be non-opening. The window shall be 
permanently retained in that condition thereafter. 

Page 92

Agenda Item 4f



 
 Reason: To ensure that the privacy of neighbouring occupiers/land users is retained at all 

times. 
 
Informatives 
 
1) The applicant is advised that the proposal will require the formal allocation of addresses.  

Contact the Development and Support team on 0151 934 4195 or E-Mail snn@sefton.gov.uk 
to apply for a street name/property number. 

 
2)    The applicant is advised that all works to the adopted highway must be carried out by a 

Council approved contractor at the applicant's expense.  Please contact the Highways 
Development and Design Team at HDD.Enquiries@sefton.gov.uk for further information. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 93

Agenda Item 4f



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Date of Meeting: 13 April 2022 

Subject:  DC/2022/00111 
 Poplar Lodge 15B Green Lane Formby Liverpool L37 7DJ     
Proposal: Erection of a two storey side extension, a porch to the front, a first floor extension 

and first floor glass balustrade to the rear, alterations to the roof to form a double-
pitch and insertion of sunken swim spa and hot tub to the rear following the 
demolition of the existing garage 

 
Applicant: Mr & Mrs Martin 
   
 

Agent: Mr S McGarrick  
 TwentySix Architects  

Ward:  Harington Ward Type: Householder application  
 
Reason for Committee Determination:  Referred to Committee by Chief Planning Officer 
 
 
 

 

Summary 
 
The application is for the erection of a two storey side extension, a porch to the front, a first floor 
extension and first floor glass balustrade to the rear, alterations to the roof to form a double-pitch 
and insertion of sunken swim spa and hot tub to the rear following the demolition of the existing 
garage. 
 
The main issues to assess are the impact of the proposal on the character of the area including the 
Conservation Area/adjoining Listed Building and the living conditions of neighbouring properties. 
 
For the reasons set out within the report it is considered that the bulk and mass of the proposed 
two storey side extension to the south side would create an adverse impact on the living 
conditions of the occupiers of May Cottage that sits next to the application site and fails to comply 
with Local Plan Policy HC4.  
 

Recommendation: Refuse  
   
Case Officer Joy Forshaw 

 
 

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk  
Telephone 0345 140 0845  
 
Application documents and plans are available at: 

http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=R60ETYNWGGQ00 

Page 95

Agenda Item 5a



Site Location Plan 
 

 
 

Page 96

Agenda Item 5a



The Site 
 
A detached two storey dwellinghouse situated on the west side of Green Lane.  A mix of residential 
properties surround the site, including two storey houses and bungalows.      
 
History 
  
Planning permission was refused in January 2022 for the erection of a two storey extension to the 
side following demolition of the existing side extension/garage, porch to the front and first floor 
extension to the rear of the dwellinghouse in addition to alterations to the roof to form a double-
pitch (app.ref: DC/2021/01434). This application was similar to that currently under consideration 
and is subject to appeal (albeit a decision has not yet been made).  
 
In April 2014, planning permission was granted for the construction of a pitched roof extension 
over the existing garage to the side and erection of a two storey extension to front the 
dwellinghouse (app.ref: DC/2014/00312).  This proposal has been implemented. 
 
Planning permission was also granted in February 2010 for the erection of a two storey extension 
at the front and erection of a part first floor part two storey extension at the side of the 
dwellinghouse (app.ref: S/2010/0007).  This proposal was not implemented. 
 

Consultations 
 
Highways Manager 
 
No objections to the proposals.  
 
Conservation 
 
No objection. 
 

Neighbour Representations 
 
One email received from a property in the area, objecting on the following grounds:  
 
- This is the second application submitted in the last 12 months and is significantly larger than 
application DC/2021/01434 which was refused.  
- The proposal will have a detrimental impact upon our living conditions. The Local Plan policy 
requires that extensions and alterations will not significantly reduce the living conditions of the 
occupiers of neighbouring properties, it is difficult to comprehend how permitting the erection of a 
sunken swim spa , hot tub and first floor balustrade will not affect our living conditions. The first 
floor balustrade will result in overlooking which will be intolerable.   

Page 97

Agenda Item 5a



- Will result in a significant loss of privacy and loss of enjoyment of our own outside space and 
impact on our living conditions. 

 
Policy Context 
   
The application site lies within an area designated as residential and lies within the Green Lane 
Conservation Area as designated in the Sefton Local Plan which was adopted by the Council in April 
2017.   It lies adjacent to a Listed Building, May Cottage, to the south.  
                         
The Formby and Little Altcar Neighbourhood Plan was ‘made’ (i.e. adopted) on 21st November 
2019 and carries full weight in decision making.                         
 
Assessment of the Proposal 
 
The proposal is for a two storey side extension projecting from the south gable on a larger 
footprint than the single/two storey side extension it replaces, a glazed flat roofed porch to the 
front elevation and a first floor extension over a single storey element to the northwest rear 
corner to the dwelling.  Alterations are also proposed to the roof forming a double pitch, a Juliette 
balcony to the rear elevation and a sunken swim spa and hot tub.  The proposal is very similar in 
design to the recently refused application which is subject to appeal (app.ref: DC/2021/01434), the 
main difference being the two storey side extension being reduced in width by approximately  
0.75m and the height of the wall closest to May Cottage reduced by approximately 0.45m.    
 
The main issues to assess are the impact of the proposal on the character of the area including the 
Green Lane conservation area and the living conditions of neighbouring properties.  
 
Character of the area, conservation area and setting of a Listed Building 
 
Local Plan Policy HC4 (House Extensions, Houses in Multiple Occupation and Flats) requires 
extensions and alterations to be of high quality design that match or complement the style of 
dwelling and the surrounding area.  
 
The design of all elements of the proposal would complement the host dwelling. The proposed 
rendered facing with wood detail and roof tiles matching the host dwelling create a unified 
appearance and would not adversely affect the character of the area.   
 
Local Plan Policy NH11 (Works affecting Listed buildings) advises that works affecting the setting of 
a Listed Building should respect and conserve the historic and positive existing relationships 
between the listed building and its surroundings.  Policy NH12 (Conservation Areas) advises 
development will only be permitted where the proposal is of high quality design and preserves or 
enhances the character or appearance of the conservation area.  
 

Page 98

Agenda Item 5a



The proposed alterations do not significantly alter the footprint of the existing building or create 
any additional impact upon the setting of the adjacent listed building than what already exists. The 
design as proposed is considered to be an improvement on the existing building. 
 
It is proposed that new external walls will be finished to match existing with matching slate roof 
tiles above. This will maintain the existing character of the property and maintain the aesthetic link  
with its more historic neighbours. UPVC is not a traditional material and it is noted in the 
Conservation Area Appraisal that traditional materials (timber, slate, etc) make a positive 
contribution to the character and appearance of the conservation area. However, for this existing 
modern property, the continued use of UPVC is acceptable at this specific site for the proposed  
contemporary design. The use of timber to the double-height front screening is a welcome 
addition, blending a traditional material with a contemporary design, as are the stone surrounds 
within windows to the front elevations and sills. 
 
This is a modern property within the conservation area and the application as submitted would  
enhance the property itself and cause no further harm to the  character and appearance of the 
area, wider conservation area or setting of the adjacent listed building. 
 
Living conditions of neighbouring properties   
 
Local Plan Policy HC4 requires extensions and alterations to be designed so that there shall be no 
significant reduction in the living conditions of the occupiers of neighbouring properties. In 
particular, extensions must not result in: 
  

i.     loss of outlook from main windows of neighbouring habitable rooms 
ii.     a significant loss of light/overshadowing for neighbours 
iii.  a significant loss of privacy for neighbouring residents  

 
May Cottage to the south of the site is a low single storey cottage set forward of the site and 
separated by a footpath with shrubs either side of the existing boundary fence and a number of  
large trees adjoining in the garden of May Cottage. The layout of May Cottage is such that main 
habitable windows are in the north side elevation facing the application site with lounge and 
dining room windows facing the front garden/drive area of the site, kitchen window/door and 
bedroom window facing the side elevation of the application property where the two storey side 
extension is proposed.   
 
The Council’s guidance for house extensions is that to ensure extensions do not have an 
overbearing or oppressive effect on nearby properties, blank walls of two storey extensions should 
be located at least 12m from habitable rooms of nearby homes.  
 
The host dwelling is angled away from the joint boundary with May Cottage. As a result the 
interface distance between the proposed two storey side extension and the bedroom window of 
May Cottage, towards the rear of the property, is less than 9m and around 10.4m distance 
between the kitchen window and proposed extension.  This is significantly less than the 12m 

Page 99

Agenda Item 5a



recommended in the Council guidelines to reduce possible impact on outlook from neighbouring 
properties.  
 
The proposed two storey side extension would replace a low pitched single/two storey side 
extension approved in 2014, extending it to the rear.  The height of the proposed blank side wall 
would be increased from 3m to over 4.7m, whilst the ridge height of this part of the property 
would also be increased to that of the existing ridge significantly increasing visual dominance on 
outlook from the bedroom and kitchen windows of May Cottage and creating significant harm to 
the standard of living currently enjoyed by the neighbour.  This would be more noticeable due to 
the low single storey design of the cottage with low eaves and window levels and the existing 
outlook towards the boundary fence/ top area of the existing side wall and the roof sloping away 
from the boundary.  
 
The proposal includes a row of 3.3m high pleached trees to the boundary with May Cottage.  
These trees may provide some screening/softening of the lower part of the proposed two storey 
side extension from the bedroom and kitchen windows of May Cottage, but the visual impact of 
the blank top part of the wall on outlook from these low windows would still appear dominant and 
create significant harm to residential amenity.  Furthermore, the neighbour would have no control 
over the retention of these trees, which could be removed. 
 
The impacts on overshadowing are assessed in the same manner as overbearing.  In this instance, 
and as recognised above, the extension would be within the 12m distance recommended in the 
Council’s guidelines.  That said, May Cottage is located to the south of the application site and as 
such it is not considered that the proposed side extension would cause an unreasonable degree of 
overshadowing to the habitable room windows that face the application property.          
 
The dwellings to the rear of May Cottage, known as Bridge Cottages, are situated at right angles to 
the rear garden of May Cottage and are two storey with the blank gables which extend across the 
rear boundary of May Cottage closest to the application site. The proposed high blank side wall, 
which extends beyond the rear of the existing side extension, will enclose the residents living at 
May Cottage and, coupled with the cottages located to the rear, will create an overbearing and 
oppressive impact on the living conditions of the occupiers of May Cottage both in relation to the 
bedroom and kitchen windows and also the rear garden area.  
 
The proposed glazed porch to the front elevation is situated sufficient distance from both side 
boundaries not to impact on outlook or cause overshadowing to May Cottage and would not 
present any privacy concerns.  The north side of the porch facing the front drive of no. 15c creates 
no impact on the neighbour having regard to matters of overshadowing, outlook or loss of privacy.    
 
The proposed first floor rear extension, squaring off the northwest rear corner, extends towards 
the boundary with no. 15c by some 2.2m. As the site is set south of the joint boundary the host 
dwelling will already create some overshadowing to the ‘courtyard’ area between the recessed 
front elevation, which has a small bedroom window, and its detached garage which is set forward, 
virtually in line with the front elevation of the application site. Given the restricted width of the 

Page 100

Agenda Item 5a



proposed first floor extension it isn’t considered overshadowing to this area or the bedroom 
window will be significantly increased over existing.  
 
Outlook from the small bedroom window to no. 15c is already restricted and looks towards the 
rear of the detached garage to no. 15c, as noted above given the restricted size of the proposed 
first floor extension it isn’t considered impact on outlook from this small bedroom will be greatly 
increased over existing.  The blank side wall of the proposed extension maintains privacy to no. 
15c.       
 
Conclusion  
 
The proposal is of a design that would create no adverse impact to the character of the area, wider 
character and appearance of the Green Lane Conservation area or setting of the adjacent listed 
building, May Cottage . However, the bulk and mass of the proposed two storey side extension to 
the south side of the application property would appear overly dominant and would create an 
adverse overbearing impact on the living conditions of the occupiers of May Cottage, particularly 
when viewed from the bedroom and kitchen windows.  The proposal fails to comply with Local 
Plan Policy HC4.   
   

Recommendation - Refuse  
 
Reason for Refusal 
 
This application has been recommended for refusal for the following reason: 
 
1) The proposed two storey side extension, by reason of its height, mass and siting would 

appear dominant and create an adverse impact on outlook from the kitchen and bedroom 
windows in the north elevation and the rear garden area of May Cottage to the detriment of 
the living conditions of the occupiers. The proposal fails to comply with Local Plan Policy HC4 
and associated SPD House Extensions. 

 
Informative 
 
 1)  For the avoidance of doubt this decision relates to plan refs:-  
 
P_01 Location plan  
P_03A Proposed ground floor plan 
P_05A Proposed first floor plan 
P-07A Proposed front elevation 
P_09A Proposed rear elevation 
P_11A Proposed side elevation 1 
P_13A Proposed side elevation 2 
P_20A Site interface plan. 

Page 101

Agenda Item 5a



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report to: Planning 
Committee 

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 13th 
April 2022 

Subject: Planning Appeals 
 

Report of: Chief Planning 
Officer 
 

Wards Affected: (All Wards) 

Cabinet Portfolio: Planning and Building Control 

 
Is this a Key 
Decision: 

No Included in 
Forward Plan: 

No 

Exempt / 

Confidential 
Report: 

No 

 

Summary: 
 

To advise members of the current situation with regards to appeals.  Attached is a list of 

new appeals, enforcement appeals, development on existing appeals and copies of 
appeal decisions received from the Planning Inspectorate 
 
 
Recommendation(s): 

 
(1)  That the contents of this report be noted for information since the appeals decisions 

contained herein are material to the planning process and should be taken into 
account in future, relevant decisions. 

 

 

 
Reasons for the Recommendation(s): 

 
To update members on planning and enforcement appeals 

 
 

 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications) 

 

N/A 
 

 
 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 

 
(A) Revenue Costs 

 N/A 
 
 
(B) Capital Costs 

 N/A 
 

Page 103

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Implications of the Proposals: 

 

 
Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):  

There are no resource implications  
 
 

Legal Implications: 

There are no legal implications 
 
 

Equality Implications: 

There are no equality implications.  
 

Climate Emergency Implications: 

 

The recommendations within this report will  

Have a positive impact  N 

Have a neutral impact Y 

Have a negative impact N 

The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 

report authors 

N 

 
There are no climate emergency implications. 
 

 

 
Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:  

 

Protect the most vulnerable: Not applicable 
 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: Not applicable 

 

Commission, broker and provide core services: Not applicable 
 

Place – leadership and influencer: Not applicable 

 

Drivers of change and reform: Not applicable 
 

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Not applicable 

 

Greater income for social investment:  Not applicable 
 

Cleaner Greener: Not applicable 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 104

Agenda Item 6



 

 

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? 

 
(A) Internal Consultations 

 

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD.6758/22.....) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD.4958/22....) have been consulted and 
any comments have been incorporated into the report. 

 
(B) External Consultations  

 
 Not applicable 
 

Implementation Date for the Decision 

 

Immediately following the Committee / Council meeting. 
 
 
Contact Officer: Tina Berry 

Telephone Number: 0345 140 0845 

Email Address: planning.department@sefton.gov.uk 
 
Appendices: 

 

The following appendices are attached to this report:  
 

Appeals extract from the back office system plus copies of any Planning Inspectorate 
decisions. 
 

Background Papers: 
 

The following background papers, which are not available anywhere else on the internet 
can be access on the Councils website www.sefton.gov.uk/planapps 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 105

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Please note that copies of all appeal decisions are available on our website: 
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/

Contact Officer: Mr Steve Matthews 0345 140 0845

Email: planning.department@sefton.gov.uk

Appeals Received and Decisions Made

Appeals received and decisions made between 11 February 2022 and 25 March 2022

Appeal Decisions

DC/2021/01455 (APP/M4320/D/21/3288465)

31 Harbord Road Waterloo Liverpool L22 8QG 

Erection of a single storey extension to the rear of the 
dwellinghouse, after demolition of existing conservatory

Decision Date:

Decision:

Start Date:

Procedure: Householder Appeal

17/01/2022

18/03/2022

Dismissed

Reference:

DC/2021/01858 (APP/M4320/D/21/3289692)

27 Fell View Southport PR9 8JX

Erection of a fence in the rear garden (retrospective 
completed 27/04/2021).

Decision Date:

Decision:

Start Date:

Procedure: Householder Appeal

21/01/2022

11/03/2022

Dismissed

Reference:

DC/2021/01572 (APP/M4320/D/21/3284835)

77 Cherry Road Ainsdale Southport PR8 3SF 

Erection of 1660mm high boundary timber fencing to the front 
and both sides including pillars and gates to the front of the 
dwellinghouse (retrospective completed 10/05/2021).

Decision Date:

Decision:

Start Date:

Procedure: Householder Appeal

13/12/2021

10/03/2022

Dismissed

Reference:

DC/2021/01099 (APP/M4320/D/21/3284892)

7 Claremont Avenue Maghull Liverpool L31 8AD 

Erection of a two storey extension to the side, single storey 
extension to the front and first floor extension to the side and 
rear of the dwellinghouse.

Decision Date:

Decision:

Start Date:

Procedure: Householder Appeal

22/12/2021

11/02/2022

Allowed

Reference:

New Appeals

DC/2020/00418 (APP/M4320/W/21/3284528)

Site Of Former Royal British Legion  326 Liverpool Road South Maghull L31 7DJ   

Erection of Retirement Living Housing of 44 residential units 
(Category ll type accommodation) with associated communal 
facilities, landscaping and car parking following the demolition 
of the existing building Decision Date:

Decision:

Start Date:

Procedure: Written Representations

17/03/2022

Reference:

77 Scarisbrick New Road Southport PR8 6LJ 

Page 107

Agenda Item 6



Appeals received and decisions made between 11 February 2022 and 25 March 2022

EN/2022/00021 (APP/M4320/C/22/3293859)

Appeal against Construction of an outdoor swimming pool and 
retractable enclosure which is being used to provide swimming 
lessons which constitutes a material change of use and is not 
incidental to the enjoyment of the dwellinghouse Decision Date:

Decision:

Start Date:

Procedure: Written Representations

24/03/2022

Reference:

DC/2021/01434 (APP/M4320/D/22/3294584)

Poplar Lodge 15B Green Lane Formby Liverpool L37 7DJ 

Erection of a two storey extension to the side following 
demolition of the existing side extension/garage, porch to the 
front and first floor extension to the rear of the dwellinghouse 
in addition to alterations to the roof to form a double-pitch Decision Date:

Decision:

Start Date:

Procedure: Householder Appeal

18/03/2022

Reference:

DC/2021/01901 (APP/M4320/W/21/3288938)

24 Poplar Avenue Crosby Liverpool L23 2SU 

Change of use of existing residential annexe to separate 
dwellinghouse, together minor changes to glazing to both 
annexe and main house.

Decision Date:

Decision:

Start Date:

Procedure: Written Representations

15/03/2022

Reference:

Page 108

Agenda Item 6



 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 3 March 2022 

by David Fitzsimon MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 18th March 2022 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/M4320/D/21/3288465 
31 Harbord Road, Waterloo L22 8QG 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Kris Paton against the decision of Sefton Council. 

• The application Ref DC/2021/01455, dated 25 May 2021, was refused by notice dated 

14 September 2021. 

• The development proposed is a single storey rear extension. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Main Issue 

2. The main issue in this case is the effect of the proposed extension on the living 
conditions of the occupier(s) of No. 33 Harbord Road with particular regard to 

outlook and access to natural light. 

Reasons 

3. The appeal relates to a traditional semi-detached dwelling.  The pair of 
attached dwellings each have an outrigger projecting a modest distance from 
the outer sections of their rear elevations.  I understand that a conservatory 

has recently been removed from inner section of the rear elevation of the 
appeal dwelling. 

4. The submitted plans show the previous conservatory replaced with a single 
storey extension which would span almost the full width of the dwelling, set off 
the common boundary with the attached dwelling, No. 33 Harbord Road, by 

some 250mm.  At about 6 metres deep, the proposed extension would project 
much further along this boundary.  The level of projection proposed would 

exceed the ‘45 degree plus 3 metres’ standard endorsed the Council’s adopted 
Supplementary Planning Document titled ‘House Extensions’ (SPD). 

5. Although the roof of the proposed extension would rise away from the shared 

boundary, the eaves would sit well above the existing fence.   Given the overall 
height of the extension and the considerable projection from the main rear 

elevation of No. 33, I consider that the effect would be overly dominant and 
oppressive when seen from the nearest ground floor room at the back of this 

property and also from the closest part of its rear amenity area.   

6. I am mindful that planning permission has been granted for an alternative 
single storey rear extension at the appeal property since this proposal was 

rejected by the Council.  However, the approved scheme essentially cuts off 

Page 109

Agenda Item 6

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision  APP/M4320/D/21/3288465 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate2 

the corner of the extension closest to the boundary with No. 33 in order to 

comply with the design guidance outlined within the SPD.  As a result, the 
effect would be less overbearing on this property than the scheme before me. 

7. The Council has also raised concern that the proposed extension would 
unacceptably impact on the levels of natural light available to the rear of No. 
33 Harbord Road.  However, bearing in mind the fact that the rear amenity 

spaces of these attached dwellings face north-west, I am satisfied that the 
effect in such terms would not be materially greater than that of the previous 

conservatory, even accounting for the fact that it was not as deep, or indeed, 
the approved scheme that I have referred to above. 

8. I note the occupier of No. 33 Harbord Road has expressed support and I am 

satisfied that the proposed extension would not lead to an unacceptable 
reduction in the levels of natural light available to this attached property.  

Nevertheless, I conclude that proposed extension would unacceptably harm the 
outlook from it.  In such terms, the proposal conflicts with policy HC4 of the 
adopted Sefton Local Plan and the SPD, which seek to safeguard appropriate 

levels of residential amenity.  

9. In light of the above factors, and having considered all other matters raised, 

the appeal does not succeed. 

David Fitzsimon 

INSPECTOR 

Page 110

Agenda Item 6

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 8 March 2022 

by Mrs Chris Pipe BA(Hons), DipTP, MTP, MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 11th March 2022 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/M4320/D/21/3289692 

27 Fell View, Southport PR9 8JX 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mrs M Lloyd against the decision of Sefton Metropolitan Borough 

Council. 

• The application Ref DC/2021/01858 dated 17/07/2021, was refused by notice dated 

15/10/2021. 

• The development proposed is erection of fence in the rear garden. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Procedural Matter 

2. At the time of my site visit, the proposed fence was in place. The application 
made clear that the scheme had been submitted retrospectively and I have 

dealt with the appeal on that basis.   

Main Issue 

3. The main issue in this appeal is the effect of the proposed development on the 

character and appearance of the area and the living conditions of the occupiers 
of No. 25 Fell View. 

Reasons 

4. The development comprises a timber fence with structural supports along the 
shared boundary with No. 25 Fell View.  The land levels of the appeal site 

garden and adjacent properties fall towards the watercourse at the rear of the 
properties.  

5. The fence is at a consistent height along the majority of the shared boundary.  
Due to the fall in levels the height of the fence is visually dominant and at odds 
with the open waterside views.  The fence between the appeal site and No. 27 

decreases in height and follows the fall in land levels, I observed other 
boundary treatments in the area also decreased in height closer to the 

watercourse.   

6. The robust aluminium structural supports are clearly visible when the 
development is viewed from the neighbouring garden, No. 25, and give a non-

domestic appearance to the fence.  This combined with the overall height of the 

Page 111

Agenda Item 6

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/M4320/D/21/3289692 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

fence is incongruous to the area, oppressive and stark to the occupiers of the 

neighbouring property. 

7. Whilst I recognise that a decking area and garden building are located within 

the rear garden of No. 25 close to the shared boundary, I am not persuaded 
that the development before me is the only solution to provide privacy for the 
residents of the appeal property.    

8. I find that the fence is dominant and detracts from the open nature of the area.  
I conclude that the proposed development harms the character and appearance 

of the area along with the living conditions of the occupiers of No. 25 Fell View. 

9. There is conflict with A Local Plan for Sefton (2017), Policies EQ2 and HC4 
which seek amongst other things to ensure development responds positively to 

the character and form of an area whilst protecting living conditions of 
occupiers of neighbouring properties.  There is conflict with the House 

Extensions, Supplementary Planning Document (2018) which seeks to ensure 
such structures respect the character and design of an area and neighbouring 
properties. 

10. There is also conflict with the Framework which seeks to ensure developments 
are of good design appropriate and sympathetic to their surroundings. 

Conclusion  

11. For the above reasons I conclude that this appeal should be dismissed.  

C Pipe 

INSPECTOR 

Page 112

Agenda Item 6

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 8 March 2022 

by Mrs Chris Pipe BA(Hons), DipTP, MTP, MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date:10th March 2022 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/M4320/D/21/3284835 

77 Cherry Road, Ainsdale, Southport PR8 3SF 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Chantelle Power against the decision of Sefton Metropolitan 

Borough Council. 

• The application Ref DC/2021/01572 dated 15/06/2021, was refused by notice dated 

10/09/2021. 

• The development proposed is erection of 1660mm high boundary timber fencing, pillars 

and gates to the front and side boundaries of the dwellinghouse. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Procedural Matter 

2. Notwithstanding the description of development for the proposed development, 
contained within the application form, I have reworded the description to 

clearly and concisely describe the proposal.   

3. The application made clear that the scheme had been submitted retrospectively 

however, at the time of my site visit, the proposed development was not in 
place.   

Main Issues 

4. The main issues in this appeal are the effect of the proposed development on 
(i) the character and appearance of the area and (ii) highway safety. 

Reasons 

Character and Appearance 

5. The development comprises a timber fence with gates enclosing the front 

amenity space of the appeal site.  The rear garden is screened from view by a 
substantial boundary wall and side gate. The proposed fence would be located 

behind the existing low wall and include wide gates allowing vehicular access.     

6. The appeal site is located on the corner of Cherry Road and Woodvale Road.  
Whilst I observed other high boundary enclosures to the front of properties 

within the immediate area, none were comparable to this prominent corner 
plot. The overall height and extent of the boundary enclosure would be a 

dominant and incongruous addition to the streetscene. 

Page 113

Agenda Item 6

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/M4320/D/21/3284835 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

7. The appellant has confirmed that the appearance of the boundary enclosure 

could be enhanced, for instance with staining, this would not outweigh the 
harm I have identified. 

8. I conclude that the proposed development would harm the character and 
appearance of the area.  There is conflict with A Local Plan for Sefton (2017) 
(the Local Plan), Policy EQ2 which seeks amongst other things to ensure 

development responds positively to the character and form of an area.   

9. There is also conflict with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) (the 

Framework) which seeks to ensure developments are of good design 
appropriate and sympathetic to their surroundings. 

Highway Safety 

10. The Council confirm in the Officer Report that whilst the proposed development 
does not include a visibility splay for the vehicular access, this could be 

overcome through the imposition of conditions.  I note that the Highways 
Development Design Team does object to the scheme. 

11. Representation was received from a third party highlighting that the gates 

opened out into the footpath, this would cause an obstruction however the 
opening of gates could be controlled by the imposition of a planning condition. 

12. I find that the proposed development subject to conditions would not harm 
highway safety. There is no conflict with Policy EQ2 of the Local Plan which 
seeks amongst other things to ensure developments have safe and easy 

access.  

13. The proposed development would not be contrary to the Framework which 

seeks to protect highway safety. 

Other Matters 

14. The appellant has highlighted that the proposed development is required due to 

personal circumstances. I have had regard to the comments raised in the 
grounds of appeal and application in relation to safety and welfare issues along 

with the letters of support provided by Occupational Therapy and a teacher at 
the occupants SEN school.  However, limited information has been provided to 
confirm that need for the development and that the existing rear garden which 

appears to be secured by a high boundary enclosure is not suitable or that an 
alternative development could not be provided to meet the needs of the 

occupants. 

15. My attention has been drawn by the appellant to a number of boundary 
enclosures within the borough. Substantive details have not been provided 

other than photographs.  Whilst the enclosure examples are adjacent to a 
highway and appear to be at a height above 1metre I cannot accurately assess 

these against the proposal before me. In any event each development must be 
considered on its individual merits, and I have reached my conclusion based on 

the individual merit of the appeal proposal. 

Conclusion  

16. Whilst I have concluded that the proposed development would not harm 

highway safety, this does not outweigh the harm I have identified in terms of 
the character and appearance of the area. 

Page 114

Agenda Item 6

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/M4320/D/21/3284835 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

17. For the above reasons I conclude that this appeal should be dismissed.  

C Pipe 

INSPECTOR 

Page 115

Agenda Item 6

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 8 February 2022 

by Katie McDonald MSc MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 11 February 2022 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/M4320/D/21/3284892 

7 Claremont Avenue, Maghull L31 8AD 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mrs Jane Maloney against the decision of Sefton Metropolitan 

Borough Council. 

• The application Ref DC/2021/01099, dated 26 April 2021, was refused by notice dated  

4 August 2021. 

• The development proposed is a single storey front, two storey side, and first floor side 

and rear extensions to dwelling. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for is a single storey 

front, two storey side, and first floor side and rear extensions to dwelling at  
7 Claremont Avenue, Maghull L31 8AD in accordance with the terms of the 
application, Ref DC/2021/01099, dated 26 April 2021, subject to the following 

conditions: 

1) The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years 

from the date of this decision. 

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plan: 21012/01. 

3) The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of 
the development hereby permitted shall match those used in the existing 

building.  

Main Issue 

2. This is the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area.  

Reasons 

3. The property is a 2 storey semi-detached house located on a tree lined 

residential street, containing predominantly 2 storey semi-detached houses of 
varying styles. The proposal is for a 2 storey side and rear extension with a 
single storey front extension. The 2 storey side extension would maintain a gap 

of around 750mm from the boundary with the neighbouring dwelling, 
projecting around 1.8m from the side wall. The gap retained between 

properties would ensure a modest separation, taking account of the spacing 
between buildings. Thus, the gap would safeguard against the linking of 
properties or a “terracing effect”.  

Page 116

Agenda Item 6

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/M4320/D/21/3284892 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

4. Additionally, whilst the proposal does not include a reduction in the ridge height 

or a set back, as advocated by the guidance in the House Extensions 
Supplementary Planning Document (June 2018) (SPD), it would be 

unnecessary in this instance. This is because the projection to the side is small 
and subservient in comparison to the dwelling, such that there is no 
requirement to reduce the impact of the extension. The angle and shape of the 

roof would match the existing property, resulting in a simple, congruent and 
sympathetic addition to the original dwelling and surrounding street. Also, 

there would be no issue with bonding of materials, given the proposal would be 
rendered at the first floor to match the existing walls.  

5. Moreover, several dwellings in the street have 2 storey side extensions of 

varying designs, most containing a set back from the front elevation. Of these 
however, many project to the side boundary, resulting in several adjoining 2 

storey side extensions with awkward roof junctions in places. This means that 
there is no gap between properties, and despite the Council’s assertions, these 
conjoined extensions inevitably create a terracing effect. The gap to the side 

boundary in this proposal would prevent this from occurring. 

6. Consequently, the proposal would have an acceptable effect on the character 

and appearance of the area. This would be compliant with Policies HC4 and EQ2 
of A Local Plan for Sefton (April 2017), and Policy MAG 4 of the Maghull 
Neighbourhood Plan 2017-2037 (January 2019). Together these policies 

require the size and scale of extensions to be in keeping with the original 
dwelling and surrounding area and that developments make a positive 

contribution to their surroundings through the quality of their design, 
respecting the distinctive characteristics.  

7. Furthermore, there would be compliance with the Framework which seeks to 

ensure that developments are sympathetic to local character and history. 
Lastly, there would be overall compliance with the SPD, which sets out 

principles and standards that house extensions should meet to prevent harm to 
the character of the area.   

8. The appeal decisions detailed in the officer report provides little information 

about the specific design of the other proposals, and I have considered this 
case upon its merits only.  

Conclusion 

9. For the reasons set out above, I conclude that the appeal should be allowed.  

 

Katie McDonald 

INSPECTOR 

 

Page 117

Agenda Item 6

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee   

Visiting Panel Schedule  
Date Monday 11

th
 April 2022 

Start:  10:00 am at BOOTLE TOWN HALL 
 

Agenda 
Item Time Application Details Ward 

4B 10:25 

 

DC/2021/02499 
326 Liverpool Road South,  

Maghull L31 7DJ 
 

Park 

4E 11:05 

 

DC/2021/01677 
26 Elsworth Close,  

Formby L37 2YS 
 

Harington 

5A 11:30 

 

DC/2022/00111 
Poplar Lodge 15B Green Lane,  

Formby L37 7DJ 
 

Harington 

4D 12:05 

  

   DC/2022/00011 
2 Chipping Avenue,  
Ainsdale PR8 2SG 

 

Ainsdale 

 

P
age 119

A
genda Item

 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 16 March 2022
	4a DC/2021/00417 - Land Off Holgate, Thornton
	4b DC/2021/02499 - 326 Liverpool Road South, Maghull
	4c DC/2021/01317 - 5-7 Burbo Bank Road South, Blundellsands
	4d DC/2022/00011 - 2 Chipping Avenue, Ainsdale
	4e DC/2021/01677 - 26 Elsworth Close, Formby
	4f DC/2021/02862 - 12 Wright Street, Southport
	5a DC/2022/00111 - Poplar Lodge 15B Green Lane, Formby
	6 Planning Appeals Report
	Enc. 1 for Planning Appeals Report
	Appeals Report - Committee
	01 Appeal Decision_31 Harbord Road_Waterloo
	02 Appeal Decision_27 Fell View Southport
	03 Appeal Decision_77 Cherry Road Southport
	04 Appeal Decision_7 Claremont Avenue_Maghull


	7 Visiting Panel Schedule

